

RULES

July 1, 2011

NOTES

TABLE OF CONTENTS

			Page	
PART 1		GENERAL	1	
1.0	NAM	E	1	
2.0	DEFI	NITIONS AND INTERPRETATION	1	
	2.1	Definitions	1	
	2.2	Interpretation	5	
3.0	OBJE	ECTS	5	
	3.1	Objects	5	
PART 2		MEMBERSHIP	7	
4.0	MEM	MEMBER CATEGORIES		
	4.1	Member Categories	7	
	4.2	Classes of Full Members	7	
5.0	APPL	APPLYING FOR MEMBERSHIP		
	5.1	Person May Apply for Membership	7	
	5.2	Applicant Must Comply With Relevant Provisions	7	
6.0	ADM	ADMISSION TO MEMBERSHIP		
	6.1	Accepting or Refusing an Application for Membership	7	
	6.2	Admission as an Advertiser Member or an Advertising Agency Member	7	
	6.3	Admission as a Publisher Member	7	

			Page
	6.4	Admission as a Subscriber Member	8
	6.5	Record and Notification of Admission as a Member	8
	6.6	Requirement for Separate Membership	9
	6.7	Members Bound by Rules	9
	6.8	Publisher Members Elect Bound by Rules	9
7.0	SUBS	CRIPTIONS AND LEVIES	9
	7.1	Subscriptions for New Members	9
	7.2	Subscriptions, Levies, Fees and Fines	9
	7.3	Unpaid Subscriptions, Levies, Fees or Fines	9
	7.4	Annual Subscription or Levy Not Refundable	10
	7.5	Source of Funds	10
	7.6	Management of Funds	10
8.0	0 RESIGNATION, TERMINATION AND REINSTATEMENT OF MEMBERSHIP		10
	8.1	Resignation of Membership	10
	8.2	Termination of Membership	10
	8.3	Reinstatement of Membership	11
	8.4	Membership Entitlements Not Transferable	11
PART	3	COMMITTEES, OFFICERS AND MEETINGS	12
9.0	GENE	RAL COMMITTEE - AUTHORITY AND COMPOSITION	12
	9.1	Control and Management of ABC	12

			Page
	9.2	Composition of General Committee	12
	9.3	Duties of General Committee Members	12
10.0	GENE	RAL COMMITTEE – PROCEDURE FOR ELECTING MEMBERS	12
	10.1	Membership Groups' General Committee Members	12
	10.2	Procedure for Electing General Committee Members	12
	10.3	Filling a Casual Vacancy	12
11.0	GENE	RAL COMMITTEE - MEETINGS	12
	11.1	Ordinary Meetings of General Committee	12
	11.2	Meeting Before Annual General Meeting	12
	11.3	Meeting After Annual General Meeting	13
	11.4	Notice of General Committee Meetings	13
12.0	GENE	RAL COMMITTEE - PROCEEDINGS	13
	12.1	Proxies	13
	12.2	Quorum	13
	12.3	Effect of Vacancies	13
	12.4	Chairman of Meetings	13
	12.5	Resolutions	13
13.0	EXEC	UTIVE COMMITTEE – AUTHORITY AND COMPOSITION	14
	13.1	Authority of Executive Committee	14
	13.2	Composition of Executive Committee	14
	13.3	Filling a Casual Vacancy	14
	13.4	Duties of Executive Committee Members	14

			Page
14.0	EXEC	UTIVE COMMITTEE - MEETINGS	14
	14.1	Meetings and Proceedings of Executive Committee	14
	14.2	Request for Meeting of Executive Committee	14
15.0	EXEC	UTIVE COMMITTEE - PROCEEDINGS	15
	15.1	Proxies	15
	15.2	Quorum	15
	15.3	Chairman of Meetings	15
	15.4	Resolutions	15
16.0	MEET	INGS OF MEMBERS – ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING	15
	16.1	Time for Annual General Meeting	15
	16.2	Notice to Members of Annual General Meeting	15
	16.3	Business of Annual General Meeting	16
17.0	MEET	INGS OF MEMBERS – SPECIAL GENERAL MEETING	16
	17.1	Chairman May Convene	16
	17.2	Requisition by Full Members	16
	17.3	Notice of Special General Meetings	16
18.0	MEET	INGS OF MEMBERS - PROCEEDINGS	16
	18.1	Notice of Business to General Committee	16
	18.2	Representation	16
	18.3	Proxies	16
	18.4	Quorum	17
	18.5	Chairman of Meetings	17

			Page
	18.6	Resolutions	17
	18.7	Meetings	18
19.0	OFFIC	CERS – ELECTION AND DUTIES	18
	19.1	Officers	18
	19.2	Election of Officers	18
	19.3	Duties of Honorary Treasurer	18
20.0	EXEC	UTIVE DIRECTOR – APPOINTMENT AND DUTIES	19
	20.1	Appointment of Executive Director	19
	20.2	Duties of Executive Director	19
PART	4	TRUSTEES, INCOME AND PROPERTY	20
21.0	TRUS	TEES	20
	21.1	Appointment and Number of Trustees	20
	21.2	Term of Office of Trustees	20
	21.3	Appointment of New Trustees	20
	21.4	Indemnification of Trustees	20
22.0	INCO	ME AND PROPERTY	20
	22.1	Application of Income and Property	20
	22.2	Control of Income and Property	20
	22.3	Copyright Vested in Trustees	21
	22.4	Dealing with Income and Property on Dissolution	21

			Page
PART 5		AUDITS AND AUDITORS	22
23.0	AUDITS		
	23.1	Types of Audit	22
	23.2	Circulation Audit	22
	23.3	Initial Audit	22
	23.4	Inspection Audit	22
	23.5	Review Audit	22
	23.6	Other Audits	22
	23.7	Audit Guidelines	22
	23.8	Audit Only by Approved Auditor	22
	23.9	Audit Must be in Accordance with Rules and Audit Guidelines	22
	23.10	Audit Records Must be Kept	22
	23.11	Publisher Member Must Comply With Request for Inspection Audit or Review Audit	22
	23.12	Auditor Must Attend Inspection Audit or Review Audit	23
24.0	AUDI	TORS	23
	24.1	Auditor to be Qualified	23
	24.2	Auditor to be Approved	23
	24.3	Registration of Auditor	24
	24.4	Auditor Must Notify Cessation of Qualification	24
	24.5	Appointment of an Auditor to an Audit	24

			Page
	24.6	Auditors for Regional Newspapers and Country Press	24
	24.7	Request for Change of Appointed Auditor	24
	24.8	Appointment of Audit Inspector	24
	24.9	Role of Audit Inspector	25
	24.10	Removal of Auditor from Register	25
	6 JLATIO	ABC MANDATORY REPORTS, AUDIT PERIODS AND N SUMMARIES	26
25.0	ABC N	MANDATORY REPORTS	26
	25.1	Publisher Member to Prepare and Submit ABC Mandatory Reports	26
	25.2	Form of ABC Mandatory Report Determined by Executive Committee	26
	25.3	Records Must Be Kept	26
26.0	REPO	RTING PERIODS	26
	26.1	Reporting Periods	26
	26.2	Variation of Reporting Periods	26
	26.3	ABC Mandatory Report Must Include Every Publishing Day	26
27.0	SUBM	ITTING ABC PUBLISHER REPORTS	28
	27.1	Publisher Member Responsible for Content of an ABC Publisher Report	28
	27.2	Submission of an ABC Publisher Report	28
	27.2	Fee for Late Submission	28

			Page
	27.4	Acceptance of ABC Publisher Report by ABC	29
	27.5	ABC May Request Amendment of ABC Publisher Report	29
	27.6	Voluntary Reporting	29
28.0	ABC A	AUDIT REPORT MAY BE REQUIRED	29
	28.1	ABC Audit Report May be Required	29
	28.2	Publisher Member May Elect to Ensure an ABC Audit Report is Submitted	29
29.0	ABC A	AUDIT REPORTS	30
	29.1	Publisher Member must arrange for their Auditor to submit an ABC Audit Report for the required Reporting Periods	30
	29.2	ABC Audit Report Must be Audited by Appointed Auditor	30
	29.3	Publisher Member Must Provide Information and Access to Auditor	30
	29.4	Publisher Member Responsible for Content of ABC Audit Report	30
	29.5	Auditor's Certificate	30
	29.6	Submission of ABC Audit Report	30
	29.7	Fee for Late Submission	30
	29.8	Acceptance of ABC Audit Report by ABC	31
	29.9	ABC May Request Amendment of ABC Audit Report	31
30.0	CIRC	ULATION SUMMARIES	31
	30.1	ABC Will Prepare and Distribute Circulation Summaries	31
	30.2	Form and Content of Circulation Summaries	31

			Page
	30.3	Circulation Summaries Prepared and Issued Without Opinion	32
	30.4	Members to Receive Circulation Summaries	32
31.0	NEWS	SPAPER INSERTED MAGAZINES	32
32.0		ales for a Publication must be reported in accordance with dule 5.	32
PART	8	AUDIT BUREAU OF VERIFICATION SERVICES	33
33.0	AUDI	T BUREAU OF VERIFICATION SERVICES	33
	33.1	Name	33
	33.2	Purpose of ABVS	33
	33.3	Audits by ABVS	33
	33.4	Reports of Audits by ABVS	33
	33.5	Application of Fees	33
PART	9	MISCELLANEOUS	34
34.0	PUBL	ICITY	34
	34.1	Statements by Applicants for Membership and Publisher Members Elect	34
	34.2	Use of ABC Logo Generally	34
	34.3	No Publicity Until Circulation Summary Published	34
	34.4	Use of ABC Logo and Statements in Relation to Circulation Data	34
	34.5	Statements of Comparison	35

			Page
	34.6	Statements Concerning Circulation Generally	36
	34.7	Provisions Relating to ABVS Information	36
	34.8	Restriction on Use of ABC Communications	36
35.0	QUER	RY CONCERNING MEMBER'S COMPLIANCE WITH RULES	36
	35.1	Query Procedure	36
36.0	CHAL	LENGE CONCERNING REPORTING STATEMENT	36
	36.1	Challenge Procedure	36
37.0	SANC	TIONS UNDER RULES 35.0 AND 36.0 AND SCHEDULE 6	36
	37.1	Sanctions	36
	37.2	ABC's Costs	37
38.0	RESO	LUTION OF MEMBERS' ISSUES	37
	38.1	Members Must Follow Procedures in Rules	37
39.0	INDE	MNITIES	37
	39.1	Indemnity in Relation to Enforcement Action	37
	39.2	Indemnity in Relation to Actions by Members or Third Parties	37
	39.3	Indemnity in Relation to Actions by Members	37
40.0	AMEN	IDMENTS TO RULES	37
	40.1	Definitions	37
	40.2	Full Member May Propose Amendment	38
	40.3	Consideration by Executive Committee	38
	40.4	Consideration by General Committee	38
	40.5	Result of Consideration by General Committee	38

			Page
	40.6	Full Members May Requisition Vote	38
	40.7	Date of Amendment	38
41.0	DISSO	DLUTION	39
	41.1	Dissolution	39
	41.2	Winding Up	39
42.0	EXEC	UTIVE COMMITTEE DETERMINATIONS	39
	42.1	Definitions	39
	42.2	Executive Committee May Make Determinations	39
	42.3	Members May Dispute Determinations	39
	42.4	Members Must Comply With Determinations	39
43.0	O NOTICES		39
	43.1	Service of Notices	39
	43.2	Deemed Receipt of Notices	40
44.0	TRAN	SITIONAL PROVISIONS	40
	44.1	Provisions Concerning Publisher Members and Membership Groups	40
	44.2	Provision Concerning Increased Number of Members of the General Committee	41
	44.3	Provision Concerning Auditors' Qualifications	41
	44.4	Provision Concerning ABC Audit Reports	41
	44.5	Provision Concerning Eligible Sales	41

			Page
SCHEDUI	LE 1		
APPLYIN	G FOR ME	MBERSHIP	42
S1-1.0	Applying	g for Membership Generally	42
S1-2.0	Addition	al Matters When Applying for Publisher Membership	42
S1-3.0	Addition Members	al Matters When Applying for Advertising Agency ship	42
SCHEDUI	LE 2		
сомміт	TEES AND	MEETINGS	43
S2-1.0	COMPOS	SITION OF GENERAL COMMITTEE	43
	S2-1.1	Number of Members of General Committee	43
	S2-1.2	Provision Relating to Membership Group B	43
S2-2.0	MEMBER	RSHIP GROUPS' GENERAL COMMITTEE MEMBERS	43
	S2-2.1	Electing Representatives of Membership Groups A, B and C	43
	\$2-2.2	Electing Representatives of Membership Groups D and E	44
S2-3.0	PROCED	URE FOR ELECTING GENERAL COMMITTEE MEMBERS	44
	S2-3.1	Enquiry to Sitting General Committee Members	44
	\$2-3.2	Calling for Nominations	44
	S2-3.3	Nominations Only for Relevant Membership Group	44
	S2-3.4	Lodging Nominations	44
	\$2-3.5	Election Where Insufficient Nominations to Hold a Ballot	44
	S2-3.6	Election by Ballot	44

			Page
	S2-3.7	Declaration of Ballot	45
	S2-3.8	Retention of Returned Ballot Papers	45
	\$2-3.9	Procedure Where Insufficient Elected	45
		Representatives for Membership Groups A, B or C	
S2-4.0	PROCED	URE FOR CONDUCTING A GENERAL COMMITTEE	45
	POSTAL BALLOT AND ITS DECLARATION		
	S2-4.1	Definitions	45
	\$2-4.2	Conduct of General Committee Postal Ballot	46
	S2-4.3	Voting by Members of General Committee	46
	S2-4.4	Appointment of Ballot Supervisor	46
	S2-4.5	Declaration of General Committee Postal Ballot	46
S2-5.0	PROCED	URE FOR CONDUCTING A POLL AT A MEETING OF	47
	MEMBERS AND ITS DECLARATION		
	S2-5.1	Conduct of Poll at a Meeting of Members	47
	S2-5.2	Declaration of Poll Taken at a Meeting of Members	47
SCHEDU	LE 3		
DEFINIT	IONS AND	CALCULATIONS	48
S3-1.0	DEFINITIONS		48
S3-2.0	AVERAGE NET PAID SALES AND AVERAGE OTHER SALES		53
	S3-2.1	Calculation of Average Net Paid Sales	53
	S3-2.2	Calculation of Average Other Sales in Australia	53
	\$3-2.3	All Sales for a Publication must be Reported in	53
		Accordance with Schedule 5	

			Page
	\$3-2.4	Calculation of Day of Week Average Net Paid Sales in Australia	53
SCHEDU	JLE 5		
REPORT	ΓING		54
S5-1.0	REPORTI	NG STATEMENTS	54
	S 5-1.1	Types of Reporting Statements	54
	\$5-1.2	Form and Content Determined by Executive Committee	54
	S5-1.3	Determinations Consistent with Rules	54
	S5-1.4	Preparation of Reporting Statements and Calculation of Sales or Distribution	54
	S5-1.5	ABC May Request Amendment of Reporting Statement	54
	S5-1.6	No Acceptance of Reporting Statement if Moneys Owed	54
	S5-1.7	All sales for a Publication must be calculated in accordance with Schedule 3.	54
S5-2.0	MANDAT	ORY REPORTING PERIODS AND TYPES OF REPORTS	55
	\$5-2.1	Reporting Periods	55
	S5-2.2	Reports Relating to Mandatory Reporting	56
\$5-3.0	MANDAT	ORY DATA REPORTING REQUIREMENTS	56
	S5-3.1	For every Reporting Period defined under Rule S5.2.1 a Reporting Statement must be prepared and show	56
	\$5-3.2	Day of Week Reporting	56
	S5-3.3	Transitional Provision Concerning Day of Week Reporting	57

			Page
	\$5-3.4	Reporting Statement May Show Separately Average Other Sales in Australia	57
	\$5-3.5	Reporting Statement Must Show Separately Average Net Paid Sales Outside Australia	57
	\$5-3.6	Reporting Statement May Show Explanation of Modified Overseas Copies	57
	S5-3.7	Publication May Show Lower Figures	57
	S5-3.8	Voucher Copies	57
	S5-3.9	Publication Subscriptions In Arrears	57
	\$5-3.10	Newspaper Inserted Magazines	57
S5-4.0	DIGITAL	VERSIONS	57
S5-5.0	REPORT	ING PERIODS FOR VOLUNTARY REPORTING	57
S5-6.0	VOLUNTA	ARY REPORTING REQUIREMENTS	58
	S5-6.1	Voluntary Reporting Accepted by ABC	58
	\$5-6.2	Publisher Members May Elect to Report Additional Data	58
	S5-6.3	Publisher Members May Elect to Report Specific Issue Data	58
	S5-6.4	Publisher Members May Elect to Increase Frequency of Reporting of Average Net Paid Sales	58
	S 5-6.5	Cessation of Voluntary Reporting	58
	S5-6.6	Updating ABC Voluntary Report Data	58
	S5-6.7	All Voluntary Reporting Data is Subject to Audit Inspection	58
	S5-6.8	Application to Submit an ABC Voluntary Report	59

			Page
SCHEDU		MENTS - QUERIES AND CHALLENGES	60
S6-1.0	RULE 35.0 – QUERY CONCERNING MEMBER'S COMPLIANCE WITH RULES		
	S6-1.1	Lodging a Query	60
	S6-1.2	Audit Inspector to Consider Query	60
	S6-1.3	Determination of Executive Committee	60
	S6-1.4	Response to Query	60
	S6-1.5	Audit Inspector to Consider Response	60
	S6-1.6	Decision of Executive Committee	60
S6-2.0	RULE 36.0 – CHALLENGE CONCERNING REPORTING STATEMENT		61
	S6-2.1	Lodging a Challenge	61
	S6-2.2	Response to a Challenge	61
	\$6-2.3	Audit Inspector to Consider Response	61
	S6-2.4	Report on Inspection Audit	61
	S6-2.5	Executive Committee to Determine Whether Review Audit Required	61
	S6-2.6	Decision Where No Review Audit Required	61
	S6-2.7	Challenger Must Lodge Amount Where Review Audit Required	62
	S6-2.8	Action After Review Audit	62

			Page
SCHEDU	LE 7		64
AMENDM	IENTS TO RU	JLES	
S7-1.0	DEFINITIO	ONS	64
\$7-2.0		RE FOR CONDUCTING A BALLOT OF FULL MEMBERS DECLARATION	64
	S7-2.1	Conduct of Ballot of Full Members	64
	S7-2.2	Voting by Full Members	64
	S7-2.3	Appointment of Ballot Supervisor	65
	S7-2.4	Declaration of Ballot	65
APPEND	ICES		
EXPLANA	ATORY STAT	EMENTS	
	Appendix	1 Part 1 – General	66
	Appendix	2 Part 2 – Membership	67
	Appendix	3 Part 3 - Committees, Officers and Meetings	68
	Appendix	4 Part 4 – Trustees, Income and Property	70
	Appendix	5 Part 5 – Audits and Auditors	71
	Appendix	6 Part 6 – ABC Publisher Reports, Audit Periods and	72
		Circulation Summaries	
	Appendix	7 Part 7 – Circulation Statements & Summaries	73
	Appendix	8 Part 8 – ABVS	74
	Appendix	9 Part 9 – Miscellaneous	75
	Appendix	10 Schedule 1 – Applying For Membership	76

		Page
Appendix 11	Schedule 2 – Committees and Meetings	77
Appendix 12	Schedule 3 – Definitions and Calculations	78
Appendix 13	Schedule 4 – Blank	80
Appendix 14	Schedule 5 –Reporting	81
Appendix 15	Schedule 6 – Reporting Statements – Queries and	82
	Challenges	
Appendix 16	Schedule 7 – Amendments to Rules	83

RULES

PART 1 GENERAL

1.0 NAME

1.1 The name of the association is the Audit Bureau of Circulations ("ABC") ABN 78 449 399 715.

2.0 DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION

2.1 Definitions

In these Rules unless the context otherwise requires:

ABC is the Audit Bureau of Circulations named in Rule 1.0.

ABC Audit Report is a report by an Auditor:

- (a) in respect of an Audit;
- (b) prepared as required by these Rules and in accordance with the Audit Guidelines.

ABC Mandatory Report is an ABC Audit Report or an ABC Publisher Report.

ABC Publisher Report is a statement by a Publisher Member:

- (a) in respect of the paid sales of a Publication or the distribution of a Newspaper Inserted Magazine;
- (b) prepared as required by these Rules and in accordance with the Audit Guidelines;

but which is not required to be Audited, but may be subject to Audit Inspection.

ABC Staff Auditor is an Auditor who:

- (a) is an employee of the ABC; or
- (b) is engaged directly by the ABC as a contractor.

ABC Voluntary Report is a statement by a Publisher Member

- (a) in respect of the paid sales of a Publication or the distribution of a Newspaper Inserted Magazine;
- (b) providing additional reporting to that required in **Rule S5-2.0 and S5-3.0** for a Publication; and
- (c) prepared as required by these Rules and in accordance with the Audit Guidelines;

but which is not required to be Audited, but may be subject to Audit Inspection.

ABVS is the division of the ABC known as the Audit Bureau of Verification Services referred to in **Rule 33.0**.

Advertiser Member is a Full Member who in the opinion of the Executive Committee either:

- (a) carries on business as an advertiser which (among other things) advertises in Publications but which is not an advertising agency; or
- (b) or is an association representing advertisers with a membership of at least 12 advertisers who advertise in Publications,

and who has been admitted in accordance with Rule 6.0.

Advertising Agency Member is a Full Member who in the opinion of the Executive Committee either:

- (a) carries on business as an organisation which (among other things) places advertising in Publications but which is not an advertiser; or
- (b) is an association representing advertising agencies with a membership of at least 12 advertising agencies which place advertising in Publications,

and who has been admitted in accordance with Rule 6.0.

Annual General Meeting is an annual general meeting of Members convened in accordance with **Rule 16.0**.

Audit is an audit of:

- (a) the paid sales of a Publication;
- (b) the distribution of a Newspaper Inserted Magazine; or
- (c) any other matter authorised by the Executive Committee under Rule 23.6,

which is carried out in accordance with these Rules and the Audit Guidelines.

Audit Guidelines are the ABC's audit guidelines determined by the Executive Committee from time to time in accordance with **Rule 23.7**.

Audit Inspector is the person appointed in accordance with **Rule 24.8** for the purposes described in **Rule 24.9**.

Audit Periods are the reporting periods which require an Audit in accordance with **Rule S5-2.2**, which may be varied from time to time by the Executive Committee pursuant to **Rule S5-1.5**, and which apply in respect of a Publication.

Auditor is an independent auditor who satisfies the requirements of **Rule 24.1** and has been approved by the Executive Committee under **Rule 24.2** to carry out Audits.

Auditor's Certificate is a certificate provided by an Auditor in respect of a Circulation Audit and in the form required by the Audit Guidelines.

Average Issue Circulation means Average of the Net Paid Sales (as defined in **Schedule 3**) for a number of Issues of a Publication in its primary country of circulation for a Reporting Period.

Chairman is the person for the time being holding office as the Chairman of the ABC pursuant to **Rule 19.0**.

Circulation Audit is an Audit of either:

- (a) the paid sales of a Publication; or
- (b) the distribution of a Newspaper Inserted Magazine.

Circulation Summary is a summary of the paid sales of Publications and the distribution of Newspaper Inserted Magazines which is prepared and distributed by the ABC to Members in accordance with **Part 6**.

Confidential Information is information in any form or media that:

- (a) relates to the business, assets or affairs of the ABC; and
- (b) is made available by or on behalf of the ABC to the recipient, directly or indirectly,

but excludes information that the recipient can establish to the satisfaction of members of the Executive Committee and the General Committee (as the case may be):

- (c) is in or enters the public domain other than through a breach of any obligation of confidence owed to the ABC:
- (d) is or was made available to the recipient by a person (other than the ABC) who was not then under any obligation of confidence to the ABC in relation to that information; or
- (e) was developed by the recipient without the recipient relying on, referring to or incorporating any of the Confidential Information.

Country Press is a Publication which is either:

- (a) (i) a non-daily newspaper;
 - (ii) published other than in a capital city for local distribution; and
 - (iii) published on at least one day each week; or
- (b) an agricultural publication targeted to the primary producer and other participants in the agribusiness sector.

Deputy Chairman is the person for the time being holding office as the Deputy Chairman of the ABC pursuant to **Rule 19.0**.

Executive Committee is the committee of persons described in **Rule 13.0** for the time being holding office as members of the Executive Committee of the ABC in accordance with these Rules.

Executive Director is the person for the time being appointed by the Executive Committee to the position of Executive Director of the ABC pursuant to **Rule 20.0**.

Financial Year is the period commencing on 1 July in any year and ending on 30 June in the following year.

Finish Date is the day prior to the Start Date of a new Issue.

Full Member is a person admitted as a full Member in accordance with Rule 6.0.

General Committee is the committee of persons described in **Rule 9.0** for the time being holding office as members of the General Committee of the ABC in accordance with these Rules.

General Committee Postal Ballot is a postal ballot of members of the General Committee held in accordance with **Rule 12.5 and Schedule 2**.

GST has the same meaning as in A New Tax System (Goods and Services Tax) Act 1999 (Cth).

Honorary Treasurer is the person for the time being holding office as the Honorary Treasurer of the ABC pursuant to **Rule 19.0**.

Independent means independence of management and free of any business or other relationship that could materially interfere with, or could reasonably be perceived to interfere with, the exercise of their unfettered and independent judgement.

Initial Audit is the Audit described in **Rule 6.3.1(b)** and is the first Circulation Audit of a publication in accordance with these Rules.

Inspection Audit is an audit by the Audit Inspector, or by an ABC Staff Auditor at the Audit Inspector's direction, to check:

- (a) the records, processes, procedures and methodology being used in and for; and
- (b) a Publisher Member or Auditor's compliance with the provisions of the Rules and the Audit Guidelines applying to,

Audits and the preparation of Reporting Statements in respect of that Publisher Member's Publications.

Issue is an issue of a Publication with a publication date which remains as the current issue until superseded by the next following issue of that Publication and which for newspapers may only be counted as an Issue in the Membership Group which covers the period in which the bulk of the sales of the Issue occur.

Meeting of Members is an Annual General Meeting or a Special General Meeting.

Member is a member of the ABC who has been admitted in accordance with Rule 6.0.

Membership Group is any one of the groups of Full Members referred to in Rule S2-1.0 in Schedule 2.

Metropolitan Monday - Friday Daily Newspaper is a Publication which is:

- (a) a newspaper;
- (b) published in a capital city; and
- (c) published on five days each week other than Saturday or Sunday.

Metropolitan Saturday Newspaper is a Publication which:

- (a) is a newspaper;
- (b) is published in a capital city; and
- (c) has the bulk of its sales on a Saturday.

Metropolitan Sunday Newspaper is a Publication which:

- (a) is a newspaper;
- (b) is published in a capital city; and
- (c) has the bulk of its sales on a Sunday.

Month is a calendar month.

National Newspaper is a Publication which is a newspaper sold nationally in Australia.

Newspaper Inserted Magazine is a Publication which is:

- (a) a magazine or in the form of a magazine; and
- (b) provided by a Publisher Member:
 - (i) on a regular basis;
 - (ii) at the same time; and
 - (iii) at no further charge

to a person purchasing a copy of a newspaper published by that Publisher Member.

Publication is a newspaper or magazine published by a Publisher Member.

Publisher Member is a Full Member who in the opinion of the Executive Committee carries on the business of a publisher and who has been admitted in accordance with **Rule 6.0**.

Publishing Day is:

- (a) the day; or
- (b) each day in the period,

(as the case may be) covered by an Issue of a Publication that is, the day or days on which an Issue of a publication is on sale prior to being superceded by a new Issue of that publication.

Regional Daily Newspaper is a Publication which is:

- (a) a newspaper;
- (b) published other than in a capital city; and
- (c) published on at least five days each week.

Regional Sunday Newspaper is a Publication which:

- (a) is a newspaper;
- (b) is published other than in a capital city; and
- (c) has the bulk of its sales on a Sunday.

Reporting Periods are the periods stipulated in **Rule S5-2.0**, which may be varied from time to time by the Executive Committee pursuant to **Rule 26.2**, and which apply in respect of certain Publications.

Reporting Statement is an ABC Audit Report, an ABC Publisher Report or an ABC Voluntary Report.

Review Audit is an audit by an ABC Staff Auditor:

- (a) directed by the Executive Committee as provided in Rule 23.5;
- (b) in respect of, relating to, or in any way arising out of:
 - (i) the preparation or content of any Reporting Statement or Auditor's Certificate;
 - (ii) a Publisher Member or Auditor's compliance with the provisions of the Rules and the Audit Guidelines; or
 - (iii) the subject matter of a challenge lodged under Rule 36.0 and Schedule 4.

Rules are these rules of the ABC as originally in force or as amended from time to time in accordance with these Rules.

Special General Meeting is a special general meeting of Members convened and held in accordance with **Rule 17.0**.

Specific Issue Circulation means Net Paid Sales (as defined in **Schedule 3**) for an Issue of Publication in its primary country of circulation.

Start Date is the date an Issue is placed on sale or delivered to subscribers.

Subscriber Member is a person (not being a Full Member) admitted as a subscriber Member in accordance with **Rule 6.0**.

Trustees are the persons for the time being appointed Trustees of the ABC pursuant to Rule 21.0.

Weekly Magazine is a magazine published by a Publisher Member and which generally publishes a new Issue each week.

2.2 Interpretation

In these Rules unless the context otherwise requires:

- 2.2.1 references to parts and schedules refer to the parts of and schedules to these Rules;
- 2.2.2 a reference to these Rules includes all schedules to these Rules;
- 2.2.3 headings do not affect the interpretation of these Rules;
- 2.2.4 a reference to **person** includes an individual and any type of entity or body of persons, whether or not it is incorporated or has a separate legal identity, and includes the person's executors, administrators, successors and assigns;
- 2.2.5 a reference to **including**, **includes** or **include** must be read as if it is followed by **(without limitation)**;
- 2.2.6 the words **for example** do not limit the meaning of the words to which the example relates to that particular example or examples of a similar kind;
- 2.2.7 where an expression is defined, any other part of speech or grammatical form of that expression has a corresponding meaning;
- 2.2.8 the singular includes the plural and vice-versa; and
- 2.2.9 a word which suggests one gender includes all genders.
- 2.2.10 a reference to a statute includes regulations and other instruments under it and consolidations, amendments, re-enactments or replacements of any of them;
- 2.2.11 where under these Rules the Executive Committee:
 - (a) is required to take an action in respect of any matter, including a requirement to approve, determine, authorise, appoint, direct, prescribe, accept or refuse; or
 - (b) is otherwise required (expressly or impliedly) to consider, form an opinion or make a decision in respect of a matter,

the Executive Committee:

- (c) does so in its absolute discretion subject to Rule 13.4; and
- (d) is not obliged to provide any reason for its opinions, determinations or decisions unless these Rules provide otherwise;
- 2.2.12 a reference to the **ABC**, which does not have a separate legal identity as it is an unincorporated association, includes a reference to the Trustees, and the officers, agents and representatives of the ABC.

3.0 OBJECTS

3.1 Objects

The objects of the ABC are to:

- 3.1.1 highlight the special status of the auditing of paid media;
- 3.1.2 issue standardised statements of paid sales of Publications (and of distribution in respect of Newspaper Inserted Magazines only);
- 3.1.3 verify by Auditor's examination of the data contained in ABC Publisher Reports in respect of the paid sales of their Publications (and in respect of the distribution of Newspaper Inserted Magazines only);
- 3.1.4 disseminate data concerning the circulation of Publications for the benefit of Members and to publish and distribute summaries of that data to Members;
- 3.1.5 audit, and publish reports on audits of:
 - (a) aspects of the dissemination of material (including advertisements) by way of:
 - (i) outdoor advertising signs;
 - (ii) trade exhibitions and conferences;
 - (iii) the exhibition of cinematograph films:
 - (iv) any method of a like nature to any of the matters in Rules 3.1.5 (a)(i) to (iii); and

- (v) electronic or digital communication or media, including material disseminated by:
 - (A) subscription television;
 - (B)

pay radio services; or

- (C) the internet;
- (b) attendances at:
 - (i) trade exhibitions, conferences or any gathering of people for similar purposes; and
 - (ii) the exhibition of cinematograph films; and
- (c) generally any data relating to the media industry, the auditing of which is intended to provide the industry with improved certainty and comparability of data for the benefit of the industry; and
- 3.1.6 do anything which is incidental or conducive to attaining the objects in **Rules 3.1.1 to 3.1.5**.

PART 2 MEMBERSHIP

4.0 MEMBER CATEGORIES

4.1 Member Categories

- 4.1.1 There are two categories of Members, namely:
 - (a) Full Members; and
 - (b) Subscriber Members.
- 4.1.2 A Subscriber Member has all the rights of a Full Member under these Rules except the rights to:
 - (a) vote at any meeting of the Members; and
 - (b) nominate a representative for election as a member of the General Committee.

4.2 Classes of Full Members

There are three classes of Full Members, namely:

- 4.2.1 Publisher Members:
- 4.2.2 Advertiser Members: and
- 4.2.3 Advertising Agency Members.

5.0 APPLYING FOR MEMBERSHIP

5.1 Person May Apply for Membership

Any person requiring circulation information published by the ABC may apply in writing for membership of the ABC by completing a membership application in the form from time to time prescribed by the Executive Committee and lodging that application with the ABC.

5.2 Applicant Must Comply With Relevant Provisions

A person applying for membership of the ABC must comply with those provisions of **Schedule 1** which apply to the category of membership for which they are applying.

6.0 ADMISSION TO MEMBERSHIP

6.1 Accepting or Refusing an Application for Membership

- 6.1.1 The Executive Committee may accept or refuse an application from a person applying to be a member of the ABC at a duly convened meeting of the Executive Committee.
- 6.1.2 A person applying to be a Full Member who in the opinion of the Executive Committee is not eligible to be a Full Member may have their application considered by the Executive Committee as if they had applied to be a Subscriber Member and the Executive Committee may accept the application on that basis.
- 6.1.3 The Executive Committee may refuse any membership application and in that case must return the amount of any subscription accompanying the membership application.

6.2 Admission as an Advertiser Member or an Advertising Agency Member

A person applying to be a Full Member in the class of Advertiser Member or Advertising Agency Member will be admitted to membership as a Full Member in the relevant class upon the acceptance of their application pursuant to **Rule 6.1.1**.

6.3 Admission as a Publisher Member

- 6.3.1 The admission of a person as a Full Member in the class of Publisher Member who has their application accepted pursuant to **Rule 6.1.1** (**Publisher Member Elect**) is subject to and conditional upon the following:
 - (a) The Publisher Member Elect must install and maintain those records which the Executive Committee reasonably requires in accordance with these Rules and the Audit Procedures; and
 - (b) When the Publisher Member Elect has complied with **Rule 6.3.1(a)**, it must arrange for an Initial Audit of each publication for which the Publisher Member Elect has applied for membership to be:

- (i) conducted by the Auditor appointed by the Executive Committee under **Rule 24.5** in accordance with these Rules and the Audit Procedures;
- (ii) subject to **Rule 6.3.2**, for the Audit Period nominated by the Executive Committee; and
- (iii) submitted to the ABC within a time which the Executive Committee considers reasonable.
- 6.3.2 For the purposes of **Rule 6.3.1**, if the Publisher Member Elect lodges its application for membership in respect of a publication more than thirty days after the expiration of the most recent Audit Period for the Membership Group which covers that publication, then the Initial Audit under **Rule 6.3.1(b)** must be in respect of:
 - (a) that most recently expired Audit Period; or
 - (b) a period of six months ending on the last day of the month in which that application for membership was lodged.
- 6.3.3 A Publisher Member Elect will be admitted as a Full Member in the class of Publisher Member for a Publication only when:
 - (a) the Publisher Member Elect has complied with **Rules 6.3.1(a) and (b)** in respect of that publication to the satisfaction of the Executive Committee; and
 - (b) the ABC Audit Report and the Auditor's Certificate for the Initial Audit of that publication have been accepted by the ABC under **Rule 26.10**.

6.4 Admission as a Subscriber Member

- 6.4.1 A person applying to be a Subscriber Member will be admitted to membership upon their election as a Subscriber Member under **Rule 6.1.1**.
- 6.4.2 A person applying to be a Full Member who has their application considered as if they had applied to be a Subscriber Member and their application accepted on that basis pursuant to **Rule 6.1.2** must:
 - (a) be sent a written notice by the Executive Committee advising they have been accepted as a Subscriber Member; and
 - (b) be given the opportunity to accept or reject in writing their acceptance as a Subscriber Member not more than 30 days after the date of the written notice from the Executive Committee.
- 6.4.3 If the person advises in writing by the time required under **Rule 6.4.2** that they accept their acceptance as a Subscriber Member, they will be admitted to membership upon the Executive Committee's receipt of their written acceptance.
- 6.4.4 If the person either:
 - (a) advises in writing that they reject acceptance as a Subscriber Member; or
 - (b) does not provide any advice in writing,

by the time required in Rule 6.4.2:

- (c) their acceptance as a Subscriber Member will be null and void from the beginning;
- (d) their application for membership will be deemed to have been refused by the Executive Committee under **Rule 6.1.3**; and
- (e) the Executive Committee must return the amount of any subscription accompanying the person's membership application.

6.5 Record and Notification of Admission as a Member

- 6.5.1 As soon as a person is admitted as a Member in accordance with these Rules, the Executive Committee must advise that person in writing:
 - (a) that the person has been admitted as a Member;
 - (b) the category and class (if applicable) of membership to which the person has been admitted; and
 - (c) the date on which the membership commenced.

6.5.2 The Executive Director must keep a record of the names and addresses (including postal address, facsimile number and email address, if any) of the Members admitted by the Executive Committee and the category and class (if applicable) of membership to which the Members are admitted.

6.6 Requirement for Separate Membership

- 6.6.1 A Publisher Member must maintain a separate membership of the ABC for each Publication for which it wishes to submit Reporting Statements in accordance with these Rules.
- 6.6.2 Each Advertising Agency Member who wishes to make material issued by the ABC available to their employees at that Member's offices:
 - (a) in more than one state or territory of Australia; or
 - (b) at a location outside Australia (but only in cases where the Member also has as an office in Australia),

must maintain a separate membership of the ABC in respect of:

- (c) each office in a state or territory of Australia; and
- (d) where the member has an office outside Australia, at each office located in another country.

6.7 Members Bound by Rules

A Member is bound by these Rules on and from the date the Member's membership commenced as notified under **Rule 6.5**.

6.8 Publisher Members Elect Bound by Rules

A Publisher Member Elect is bound by these Rules from the date on which its application for membership as a Full Member in the class of Publisher Member for a particular publication was accepted by the Executive Committee pursuant to **Rule 6.1.1** until either:

- 6.8.1 the date on which the Publisher Member Elect is admitted as a Full Member in the class of Publisher Member for that publication pursuant to **Rule 6.3.3** in which case **Rule 6.7** will immediately apply;
- 6.8.2 the date on which the Publisher Member in writing advises the Executive Committee that the Publisher Member Elect withdraws its application for membership as a Full Member in the class of Publisher Member for that publication; or
- the date on which the Executive Committee in writing advises the Publisher Member Elect that they will not be admitted as a Full Member in the class of Publisher Member for that publication because they have been unable to comply with the requirements of **Rule 6.3.3**.

7.0 SUBSCRIPTIONS AND LEVIES

7.1 Subscriptions for New Members

- 7.1.1 A person admitted as a Member on or before 31 December in any Financial Year must pay the full annual subscription determined pursuant to **Rule 7.2.1** for that Financial Year.
- 7.1.2 A person admitted as a Member on or after 1 January in any Financial Year must pay one half of the annual subscription determined pursuant to **Rule 7.2.1** for that Financial Year.

7.2 Subscriptions, Levies, Fees and Fines

- 7.2.1 A Member must pay each annual subscription or other levy as may be determined from time to time by the Executive Committee and approved by two-thirds majority of the General Committee.
- 7.2.2 A Member must pay any subscription, levy, fee or fine imposed in accordance with these Rules within thirty days after the date of the ABC's written request for payment.

7.3 Unpaid Subscriptions, Levies, Fees or Fines

- 7.3.1 A Member is not entitled to:
 - (a) receive any service provided by the ABC; or
 - (b) exercise any rights or privileges of membership,

if any subscription, levy, fee or fine imposed in accordance with these Rules has not been paid within the time required by **Rule 7.2.2**, and that disentitlement will remain until either:

(c) the subscription, levy, fee or fine is paid to the ABC; or

- (d) the Member's membership is terminated under **Rule 8.2**.
- 7.3.2 If a Publisher Member has not paid any subscription, levy, fee or fine imposed in accordance with these Rules within the time required by **Rule 7.2.2**, then **Rule 8.2** applies in addition to the sanctions imposed under **Rule 7.3.1**.

7.4 Annual Subscription or Levy Not Refundable

An annual subscription or a levy decided and approved under Rule 7.2.1 is not refundable.

7.5 Source of Funds

- 7.5.1 The funds of the ABC are to be derived from annual subscriptions, levies, fees or fines payable by Members which are determined pursuant to **Rule 7.2.1**, donations and, subject to any resolution passed at a Meeting of Members, such other sources as the Executive Committee determines.
- 7.5.2 All money received by the ABC must be deposited as soon as practicable and without deduction to the credit of the ABC's bank account.
- 7.5.3 The ABC must, as soon as practicable after receiving any money, issue an appropriate receipt.

7.6 Management of Funds

7.6.1 all cheques, drafts, bills of exchange, promissory notes and other negotiable instruments must be signed by any 2 members of the executive committee or jointly by the executive director and a member of the executive committee.

8.0 RESIGNATION, TERMINATION AND REINSTATEMENT OF MEMBERSHIP

8.1 Resignation of Membership

A Member may resign as a Member by giving the ABC at least three months' notice in writing of its intention to resign provided that all moneys owing to the ABC by the Member in accordance with these Rules are paid in full.

8.2 Termination of Membership

- 8.2.1 A Publisher Member's membership in respect of a Publication may be terminated at any time by the Executive Committee if:
 - (a) (i) the Publisher Member's records and information presented to the Auditor appointed for the Publication under these Rules for the purposes of an Audit are not in that Auditor's opinion suitable to be audited; and
 - (ii) the Publisher Member does not provide the records and information required to be maintained by the Publisher Member under these Rules as the Executive Committee requires in respect of the Publication within fourteen days after written notice by the Audit Inspector to do so;
 - (b) the Publisher Member does not submit to the ABC by the due date a Reporting Statement for a Reporting Period required for the Publication in accordance with these Rules; or
 - (c) (except where the Publication is a Newspaper Inserted Magazine) the Publisher Member fails to maintain the Publication with a paid circulation at least 51% of which qualifies as "Average Net Paid Sales" as defined in **Schedule 3**.
- 8.2.2 (a) The Executive Director or the Audit Inspector, as the case may be, must advise the Executive Committee of any breach by a Member of these Rules or the Audit Guidelines (**Breach**) which either of them may observe or which may be reported to either of them.
 - (b) Where the Executive Committee receives an advice under **Rule 8.2.2(a)**, the Executive Committee by written notice (**Breach Notice**) may require the Member to remedy the Breach within the time stipulated in the Breach Notice.
 - (c) If the Breach is not remedied by the Member within the time stipulated in the Breach Notice, the Executive Committee by written notice to the Member may terminate the membership of that Member.
- 8.2.3 Subject to **Rule 8.2.4**, the Executive Committee by written notice to the relevant Member (**Termination Notice**) may terminate the membership of any Member who in the opinion of the Executive Committee:

- (a) breaches any of these Rules;
- (b) makes any false or fraudulent statement as to the circulation of any Publication; or
- (c) has displayed conduct which is detrimental to the ABC or its reputation.
- 8.2.4 (a) Subject to **Rule 8.2.4(b)**, the termination of the membership of a Member who receives a Termination Notice will not operate until the Member has an opportunity to be heard in their own defence by the Executive Committee on terms and conditions the Executive Committee considers reasonable.
 - (b) If the Member desires to be heard by the Executive Committee under **Rule 8.2.4(a)**, the Member must give the Executive Committee written notice of that desire no later than 14 days after the date of the Termination Notice.
 - (c) If the Member does not provide a notice in accordance with **Rule 8.2.4(b)**, the termination of the membership of the Member will stand.
 - (d) Following a hearing under **Rule 8.2.4(a)**, the Executive Committee may decide to:
 - (i) confirm the termination of the Member's membership; or
 - (ii) withdraw the Termination Notice,

and must advise the Member in writing of its decision.

- 8.2.5 A Member whose membership of the ABC is terminated in accordance with these Rules will:
 - (a) forfeit to the ABC all moneys paid by the Member in respect of its membership;
 - (b) cease to have any right, title or interest in the property of the ABC; and
 - (c) remain liable for, and will pay to the ABC all moneys which at the time of ceasing to be a Member were due from the Member to the ABC.

8.3 Reinstatement of Membership

A Member whose membership is terminated for any reason in accordance with these Rules may be reinstated as a Member by the Executive Committee subject to any conditions which the Executive Committee may determine.

8.4 Membership Entitlements Not Transferable

A right, privilege or obligation which a Member has by reason of being a Member of the ABC:

- 8.4.1 is not capable of being transferred or transmitted to another Member or other person, and
- 8.4.2 terminates on termination or resignation of the Member's membership.

PART 3 COMMITTEES, OFFICERS AND MEETINGS

9.0 GENERAL COMMITTEE – AUTHORITY AND COMPOSITION

9.1 Control and Management of ABC

Subject to these Rules, the supreme control and management of the ABC is vested in a General Committee.

9.2 Composition of General Committee

- 9.2.1 At any time the membership of the General Committee must be comprised as provided in **Rule S2-1.0 in Schedule 2.**
- 9.2.2 The members of the General Committee must be elected from persons nominated by the Full Members for that purpose in accordance with **Rule S2-3.0 in Schedule 2**.
- 9.2.3 A person elected as a member of the General Committee will serve until their successor is elected in accordance with these Rules, unless their Full Membership of the ABC is terminated earlier pursuant to these Rules.

9.3 Duties of General Committee Members

- 9.3.1 Each Member of the General Committee should not:
 - (a) act in situations of conflict of interest unless approved to do so by a simple majority of the General Committee; and
 - (b) make personal use of Confidential Information or privileged information.
- 9.3.2 Each Member of the General Committee should:
 - (a) act in the best interests of the Members as a whole;
 - (b) act within the scope of the objects of the ABC in Rule 3.0; and
 - (c) disclose to the General Committee actual or potential conflicts of interest.

10.0 GENERAL COMMITTEE - PROCEDURE FOR ELECTING MEMBERS

10.1 Membership Groups' General Committee Members

Members of the General Committee must be elected by their respective Membership Group in accordance with the relevant provisions of **Schedule 2**.

10.2 Procedure for Electing General Committee Members

Members of the General Committee must be elected in accordance with the procedures set out in the relevant provisions of **Schedule 2**.

10.3 Filling a Casual Vacancy

- 10.3.1 If a casual vacancy occurs on the General Committee, those members of the General Committee who are in the same Membership Group as the person who created the casual vacancy (**Relevant Membership Group**) may appoint another person representing Full Members of the Relevant Membership Group to fill that casual vacancy.
- 10.3.2 A person appointed under **Rule 10.3.1** to fill a casual vacancy will hold office until the next Annual General Meeting following their appointment when they must retire but they will be eligible for re-election to the General Committee.

11.0 GENERAL COMMITTEE - MEETINGS

11.1 Ordinary Meetings of General Committee

- 11.1.1 Subject to Rules 11.2 and 11.3, meetings of the General Committee may be convened by:
 - (a) the Chairman; or
 - (b) the written requisition of any seven members of the General Committee lodged with the Executive Director.
- 11.1.2 Meetings convened under **Rule 11.1.1**, will be held at a time, on a date and at a place determined by the Chairman or the Executive Committee.

11.2 Meeting Before Annual General Meeting

The Chairman must convene a meeting of the General Committee under **Rule 11.1.1** to be held immediately before the Annual General Meeting.

11.3 Meeting After Annual General Meeting

The Chairman must convene a meeting of the General Committee under **Rule 11.1.1** to be held immediately after the Annual General Meeting and for the purposes only of electing:

- 11.3.1 the officers of the ABC in accordance with Rule 19.2; and
- 11.3.2 the members of the Executive Committee in accordance with Rule 13.2.

11.4 Notice of General Committee Meetings

- 11.4.1 The Executive Director must give each member of the General Committee notice in writing of each meeting of the General Committee at least fourteen days before the date of the meeting.
- 11.4.2 Each notice given under **Rule 11.4.1** must specify the subjects to be considered at the meeting.

12.0 GENERAL COMMITTEE - PROCEEDINGS

12.1 Proxies

- 12.1.1 A member of the General Committee may appoint a proxy from the Full Members with full power to act for and on their behalf at any meeting of the General Committee.
- 12.1.2 The appointment of a proxy under **Rule 12.1.1** must be in writing delivered to the Executive Director at least seven days before the General Committee meeting to which the appointment relates.

12.2 Quorum

A quorum for a General Committee meeting is eleven members of the General Committee present either:

- 12.2.1 in person; or
- 12.2.2 by a proxy appointed under **Rule 12.1** who is not an elected member of the General Committee.

12.3 Effect of Vacancies

The continuing members of the General Committee may act notwithstanding any vacancy in the membership of the General Committee but if their number falls below eleven the remaining members of the General Committee must not, except for the purpose of filling a vacancy, act while their number is below eleven.

12.4 Chairman of Meetings

- 12.4.1 The Chairman will preside as chairman of General Committee meetings.
- 12.4.2 If the Chairman is not present within fifteen minutes after the time set for the commencement of a General Committee meeting or is unwilling to act, the Deputy Chairman will preside as chairman of that meeting.
- 12.4.3 If both the Chairman and the Deputy Chairman are not present within thirty minutes after the time set for the commencement of a General Committee meeting or are unwilling to act, the members of the General Committee present must elect one of their number to be chairman of the meeting.

12.5 Resolutions

- 12.5.1 Questions arising at a meeting of the General Committee must be decided by a simple majority of the votes of members of the General Committee, each with one vote, and proxies appointed under **Rule 12.1** present and voting.
- 12.5.2 Any decision made in accordance with **Rule 12.5.1** will be deemed for all purposes to be a decision of the General Committee.
- 12.5.3 Except as provided in **Rule 13.2.1(b)**, resolutions may be determined by the General Committee by way of a General Committee Postal Ballot.
- 12.5.4 A General Committee Postal Ballot must be carried out and declared in accordance with the procedures set out in the relevant provisions of **Schedule 2**
- 12.5.5 Subject to **Rule 15.4.3**, the result of a General Committee Postal Ballot will be deemed to be the resolution of the General Committee.

13.0 EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE – AUTHORITY AND COMPOSITION

13.1 Authority of Executive Committee

Subject to these Rules and to any decisions or directions of the General Committee, the Executive Committee will control and manage the ABC and has full power to originate, discuss and decide all questions relating to the business of the ABC.

13.2 Composition of Executive Committee

- 13.2.1 (a) Subject to **Rule 13.2.2**, the General Committee must elect from among its members an Executive Committee of five persons, one from each Membership Group.
 - (b) The election under **Rule 13.2.1(a)**:
 - (i) must be carried out at the meeting of the General Committee convened under **Rule 11.3**;
 - (ii) must be decided by a simple majority of the votes of members of the General Committee, each with one vote, and proxies appointed under **Rule 12.1** present and voting; and
 - (iii) cannot be the subject of a General Committee Postal Ballot under these Rules.
- 13.2.2 The Chairman, Deputy Chairman and Honorary Treasurer each will be deemed to have been elected a member of the Executive Committee by the General Committee to represent the Membership Group represented by them on the General Committee.
- 13.2.3 The members of the Executive Committee will serve until:
 - (a) their successors are elected (or are deemed to have been elected under **Rule 13.2.2**) in accordance with these Rules; or
 - (b) they cease to be a member of the General Committee,

whichever is the earlier.

13.3 Filling a Casual Vacancy

If a casual vacancy occurs on the Executive Committee, those members of the General Committee who are in the same Membership Group as the person who created the casual vacancy (**Relevant Membership Group**) may appoint another member of the General Committee from the Relevant Membership Group to fill that casual vacancy.

13.4 Duties of Executive Committee Members

- 13.4.1 Each Member of the Executive Committee should not:
 - (a) act in situations of conflict of interest unless approved to do so by the Executive Committee; and
 - (b) make personal use of Confidential Information or privileged information.
- 13.4.2 Each Member of the Executive Committee should:
 - (a) act in the best interests of the Members as a whole;
 - (b) act within the scope of the objects of the ABC in Rule 3.0; and
 - (c) disclose to the Executive Committee actual or potential conflicts of interest.

14.0 EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE - MEETINGS

14.1 Meetings and Proceedings of Executive Committee

Subject to **Rule 14.2**, the Executive Committee may:

- 14.1.1 meet together for the dispatch of business, adjourn and otherwise regulate their meetings and proceedings as they think fit; and
- 14.1.2 hold their meetings at times, on dates and at places as the Chairman or the Executive Committee from time to time decide.

14.2 Request for Meeting of Executive Committee

At any time any member of the Executive Committee may request the Executive Director to convene a meeting of the Executive Committee and the Executive Director must convene that meeting as soon as reasonably practicable after receiving the request.

15.0 EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE - PROCEEDINGS

15.1 Proxies

- 15.1.1 A member of the Executive Committee may appoint any other member of the Executive Committee to act as the absent member's proxy at a meeting of the Executive Committee.
- 15.1.2 A proxy may be given by the absent member:
 - (a) with full power to act for and on their behalf as the proxy holder thinks fit; or
 - (b) subject to such directions and restrictions as the absent member may make or impose.
- 15.1.3 Any appointment of a proxy and the terms of the proxy must be advised to the Executive Director before the commencement of the relevant meeting.

15.2 Quorum

A quorum for an Executive Committee meeting is four (or a lesser number determined by the General Committee) members of the Executive Committee present in person and not by proxy.

15.3 Chairman of Meetings

- 15.3.1 The Chairman will preside as chairman of Executive Committee meetings.
- 15.3.2 If the Chairman is not present at an Executive Committee meeting convened in accordance with these Rules or is unwilling to act, the Deputy Chairman will preside as chairman of that meeting.
- 15.3.3 If both the Chairman and the Deputy Chairman are not present at an Executive Committee meeting convened in accordance with these Rules within thirty minutes after the time set for commencement of the meeting or are unwilling to act, the meeting will be deemed to be dissolved.

15.4 Resolutions

- 15.4.1 Questions arising at a meeting of the Executive Committee will be decided by the votes of the members of the Executive Committee present in person or by proxy and voting and:
 - (a) a resolution put to the vote of an Executive Committee meeting will only be carried if the members present in person or by proxy determine unanimously; and
 - (b) in the event that a resolution put to an Executive Committee meeting is not carried, then the Chairman, in his discretion, may refer the resolution to:
 - (i) a meeting of the General Committee; or
 - (ii) a General Committee Postal Ballot,

for determination.

- 15.4.2 If a resolution is referred to a General Committee Postal Ballot under Rule 15.4.1:
 - (a) the provision of **Rule 12.5.4** apply; and
 - (b) the resolution will be deemed not be have been carried if, in the opinion of the Chairman, less than fifteen formal postal votes are recorded in respect of that General Committee Postal Ballot.
- 15.4.3 The result of a resolution of the General Committee under **Rule 15.4.2** will be deemed to be a resolution passed unanimously by the Executive Committee.

16.0 MEETINGS OF MEMBERS – ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

16.1 Time for Annual General Meeting

The Annual General Meeting must be held once in every Financial Year at the time, date and place determined by the Executive Committee or, failing agreement by the Executive Committee, by the Chairman.

16.2 Notice to Members of Annual General Meeting

The Executive Director must send each Member a notice in writing of the time, date and place of the Annual General Meeting at least twenty-eight days before the date of the meeting.

16.3 Business of Annual General Meeting

The business of an Annual General Meeting is to:

- 16.3.1 receive and consider the statement of revenue and expenditure and the balance sheet of the ABC, for the approval of Members by a simple majority;
- 16.3.2 receive and consider a report of the proceedings of the ABC for the previous Financial Year;
- 16.3.3 transact any other business which is brought under consideration by the notice convening the meeting;
- 16.3.4 appoint Independent financial auditors of the ABC who are to attend the Annual General Meeting so that they can respond to questions by Members in respect of the audit process and the content of the audit reports;
- 16.3.5 transact any other business which the Full Members present in person or by proxy at an Annual General Meeting may transact at the meeting; and
- 16.3.6 transact business of which notice has been given in accordance with **Rule 18.1.2**.
- 16.3.7 transact any business which arises from the annual report issued 21 days before the AGM.

17.0 MEETINGS OF MEMBERS – SPECIAL GENERAL MEETING

17.1 Chairman May Convene

The Chairman may convene a Special General Meeting whenever the Chairman thinks fit.

17.2 Requisition by Full Members

The Chairman must convene a Special General Meeting when requisitioned in writing to the Executive Director by a simple majority of the Full Members in any Membership Group or at least twenty-five Full Members.

17.3 Notice of Special General Meetings

When a Special General Meeting is convened by the Chairman under this **Rule 17.0**, the Executive Director must send all Members a notice in writing of the time, date, place and purpose of the Special General Meeting at least fourteen days before the date of the meeting.

18.0 MEETINGS OF MEMBERS - PROCEEDINGS

18.1 Notice of Business to General Committee

- 18.1.1 **Rules 18.1.2 and 18.1.3** do not apply to the business of an Annual General Meeting referred to in **Rules 16.3.1 to 16.3.5**.
- 18.1.2 Notice of all business or resolutions required to be brought forward for discussion and determination at a Meeting of Members must be submitted in writing to the Executive Director at least fourteen days before the date set for that Meeting.
- 18.1.3 The Executive Director must submit any notice received in accordance with **Rule 18.1.2** to the members of the General Committee before the business or resolutions contained in that notice are placed before the relevant Meeting of Members for consideration.

18.2 Representation

- 18.2.1 A Member which is not a natural person may authorise, by notice in writing to the Executive Director, a specified individual to act as that Member's representative at specified Meetings of Members which the Member would, if it were a natural person, be entitled to attend as a Member.
- 18.2.2 An authority given by a Member under **Rule 18.2.1** may be revoked only by notice in writing to the Executive Director and that revocation will operate from the date on which the written notice is received by the Executive Director.
- 18.2.3 Until an authority is revoked under **Rule 18.2.2**, an individual given that authority is entitled to exercise on the authorising Member's behalf the same powers as that Member could exercise as a Member if it were a natural person.

18.3 Proxies

18.3.1 A Subscriber Member entitled to attend a Meeting of Members may appoint another person as their proxy to attend that meeting instead of the Subscriber Member.

- 18.3.2 A Full Member entitled to attend and vote at a Meeting of Members may appoint any other Full Member as their proxy to attend and vote at that meeting instead of the absent Full Member.
- 18.3.3 A proxy appointed under this **Rule 18.3** has the same right to speak at a Meeting of Members as the person appointing the proxy would have if they were attending that meeting.
- 18.3.4 The appointment of a proxy under this **Rule 18.3** must be in writing delivered to the Executive Director at least seven days before the Meeting of Members to which the appointment relates.

18.4 Quorum

- 18.4.1 In this **Rule 18.4**, **Financial Full Member** means a Full Member who has paid to the ABC all amounts owing to the ABC in accordance with these Rules.
- 18.4.2 A quorum for a Meeting of Members:
 - (a) is:
 - (i) twenty-six Financial Full Members present in person; or
 - (ii) fifty Financial Full Members present in person or by proxy, thirteen of whom must be present in person; and
 - (b) must include at least one Financial Full Member present in person from each Membership Group.

18.4.3 Where:

- (a) an individual present at a Meeting of Members is authorised to act as the representative of a Full Member at that meeting by virtue of an authority given by the Full Member under **Rule 18.2.1**;
- (b) the individual is not otherwise entitled to be present at that Meeting of Members; and
- (c) the Full Member being represented is a Financial Full Member,

the Full Member will be deemed to be personally present at the Meeting of Members for the purposes of a quorum.

- 18.4.4 If a quorum is not present within thirty minutes after the time set for a Meeting of Members:
 - (a) where the meeting was convened upon the requisition of Members, the meeting will be dissolved; or
 - (b) in any other case:
 - the meeting stands adjourned to the time, date and place the Chairman determines or, if no determination is made by the Chairman, to the same day in the next week at the same time and place; and
 - (ii) if at the adjourned meeting a quorum is not present within thirty minutes after the time set for the meeting, the meeting will be dissolved.

18.5 Chairman of Meetings

- 18.5.1 The Chairman will preside as chairman of all Meetings of Members.
- 18.5.2 If the Chairman is not present within fifteen minutes after the time set for the commencement of a Meeting of Members or is unwilling to act, the Deputy Chairman will preside as chairman of that meeting.
- 18.5.3 If both the Chairman and the Deputy Chairman are not present within thirty minutes after the time set for commencement of a Meeting of Members or are unwilling to act, the Full Members present and eligible to vote must elect one of their number to be chairman of the meeting.

18.6 Resolutions

- 18.6.1 At any Meeting of Members decisions of the meeting will be:
 - (a) by way of a show of hands of the Full Members, each with one vote; and
 - (b) decided by a simple majority of the votes,
 - unless a poll is demanded by the Chairman or demanded by at least five Full Members present in person or by proxy.
- 18.6.2 If a poll is demanded under **Rule 18.6.1**, it must be carried out and declared in accordance with the procedures set out in the relevant provisions of **Schedule 2**.

- 18.6.3 For the purposes of these Rules:
 - (a) a decision made in accordance with **Rule 18.6.1**; or
 - (b) the result of a poll carried out in accordance with Rule 18.6.2 and Schedule 2,

will be deemed to be the resolution of the Meeting of Members at which the decision or poll was taken.

18.6.4 If there is an equality of votes either on a show of hands or on a poll at a Meeting of Members the chairman of that meeting is entitled to a further, casting vote.

18.7 Meetings

- 18.7.1 A Meeting of Members may be held at two or more venues by any means of audio or audiovisual communication that gives the Members as a whole a reasonable opportunity to participate in the Meeting.
- 18.7.2 A Meeting of Members held solely or partly by technology is treated as held at the place at which the greatest number of Members present at the meeting is located or, if an equal number of Members is located in each of two or more places, at the place where the Chairman or Deputy Chairman or acting chairman is located.
- 18.7.3 The Members shall be informed of the telecommunications medium (if any) to be used for the Meeting of Members in the notice in writing of the Meeting.

19.0 OFFICERS – ELECTION AND DUTIES

19.1 Officers

The officers of the ABC must consist of a Chairman, a Deputy Chairman and an Honorary Treasurer.

19.2 Election of Officers

- 19.2.1 Subject to **Rule 19.2.2**, the Chairman, Deputy Chairman and Honorary Treasurer must be elected by the members of each incoming General Committee from their number at the General Committee meeting convened in accordance with **Rule 11.3**.
- 19.2.2 (a) A person cannot be elected as Deputy Chairman unless they represent a Full Member in a Membership Group different to the Membership Group represented by the Chairman.
 - (b) A person cannot be elected Honorary Treasurer unless they represent a Full Member in a Membership Group different to the Membership Group represented by the Chairman and the Membership Group represented by the Deputy Chairman.
- 19.2.3 The Chairman, Deputy Chairman and Honorary Treasurer will each serve until:
 - (a) their respective successor is elected in accordance with these Rules; or
 - (b) they cease to be a member of the General Committee,

whichever is the earlier.

19.3 Duties of Honorary Treasurer

The Honorary Treasurer must:

- 19.3.1 supervise the accounts of the ABC and, jointly with the Executive Director, and for the purposes of certification to the Executive Committee, General Committee and the Members, be satisfied that the accounts present a true and fair view, in all material respects, of the ABC's financial condition and operational results, and are in accordance with the relevant accounting standards;
- 19.3.2 present independently audited statements of revenue and expenditure and balance sheets at:
 - (a) the meeting of the General Committee convened in accordance with Rule 11.2; and
 - (b) the Annual General Meeting for approval pursuant to **Rule 16.3.1**;
- 19.3.3 jointly with the Executive Director, certify to the Executive Committee, General Committee and the Members that the certification in **Rule 19.3.1** is founded on a sound system of risk management and internal compliance and control which implements the policies adopted by the Executive Committee, General Committee and the Members (as the case may be), and the ABC's risk management and internal compliance and control system is operating efficiently and effectively in all material respects; and

19.3.4 present to the General Committee or the Executive Committee any other reports required from time to time by the General Committee or the Executive Committee.

20.0 EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR - APPOINTMENT AND DUTIES

20.1 Appointment of Executive Director

The Executive Committee must appoint an Executive Director of the ABC (other than the Chairman) upon terms and conditions which the Executive Committee considers appropriate.

20.2 Duties of Executive Director

- 20.2.1 The duties of the Executive Director are to:
 - (a) secure membership of the ABC;
 - (b) maintain a record of all meetings of the Members, the General Committee and the Executive Committee;
 - (c) jointly with the Honorary Treasurer, and for the purposes of certification to the Executive Committee, General Committee and the Members, be satisfied that the accounts present a true and fair view, in all material respects, of the ABC's financial condition and operational results, and are in accordance with the relevant accounting standards;
 - (d) jointly with the Honorary Treasurer, certify to the Executive Committee, General Committee and the Members that the certification in Rule 19.3.1 is founded on a sound system of risk management and internal compliance and control which implements the policies adopted by the Executive Committee, General Committee and the Members (as the case may be), and the ABC's risk management and internal compliance and control system is operating efficiently and effectively in all material respects;
 - (e) undertake all normal business on behalf of the ABC;
 - (f) perform the other duties required of the Executive Director by these Rules; and
 - (g) perform other tasks relating to the objects of the ABC directed by the Executive Committee.
- 20.2.2 The Executive Director must provide reports concerning:
 - (a) the progress and operations of the ABC;
 - (b) any alleged breach of these Rules or other default by any Member,
 - (c) any suggestions which the Executive Director believes would tend to improve the working of the ABC,

to:

- (d) each Annual General Meeting; and
- (e) any other meeting required by the Chairman or the Executive Committee.

PART 4 TRUSTEES, INCOME AND PROPERTY

21.0 TRUSTEES

21.1 Appointment and Number of Trustees

The Executive Committee may appoint a person to be a Trustee and the number of Trustees must not be more than three.

21.2 Term of Office of Trustees

A Trustee holds office until:

- 21.2.1 the Trustee's death;
- 21.2.2 the Trustee's resignation; or
- 21.2.3 the Trustee is removed from office by a resolution of the Executive Committee.

21.3 Appointment of New Trustees

- 21.3.1 If a Trustee ceases to hold office pursuant to **Rule 21.2**, the Executive Committee may decide that a new Trustee should be appointed.
- 21.3.2 If the Executive Committee decides that a new Trustee should be appointed, the Executive Committee by resolution must nominate the person to be the new Trustee.
- 21.3.3 For the purpose of giving effect to a nomination under **Rule 21.3.2**, the Chairman:
 - (a) is the person authorised to appoint a new Trustee for the purposes of section 6 of the Trustee Act 1925 (NSW); and
 - (b) must by deed duly appoint the person nominated by the Executive Committee as the new Trustee and the provisions of the *Trustee Act 1925* (NSW) will apply to that appointment.
- 21.3.4 Any statement of fact in a deed appointing a new Trustee is conclusive evidence of that fact in favour of any person dealing bona fide and for value with the ABC or the Executive Committee and who has no notice that the statement of fact is wrong.

21.4 Indemnification of Trustees

Each Trustee is indemnified by the ABC out of property vested in that Trustee against risk and expense and is not personally liable for any:

- 21.4.1 diminution in the property of the ABC vested in the Trustees;
- 21.4.2 liability incurred by the Trustee as trustee of the ABC; or
- 21.4.3 debt or other obligation of the ABC,

except to the extent that such diminution, liability, debt or other obligation arises as a result of the Trustee's fraud, wilful negligence, breach of trust or breach of duty.

22.0 INCOME AND PROPERTY

22.1 Application of Income and Property

- 22.1.1 The income and property of the ABC must be applied solely towards the promotion of the objects of the ABC.
- 22.1.2 Subject to **Rule 22.1.3**, on no account must any part of the income and property of the ABC be paid or transferred to Members.
- 22.1.3 Nothing in **Rule 22.1.2** prevents the ABC from:
 - (a) paying remuneration to any officer or employee of the ABC or to any Member or any other person for services provided to the ABC including performance bonuses for the achievement of the objects of the ABC in **Rule 3.0** and the exceptional performance of their respective roles; or
 - (b) paying interest (at a rate not exceeding that approved by the Executive Committee) on money borrowed from or lawfully due to any Member.

22.2 Control of Income and Property

22.2.1 Cash in hand belonging to the ABC is under the control of the Executive Committee through the Honorary Treasurer.

- 22.2.2 All other property of the ABC vests in the Trustees to be dealt with by the Trustees as the Executive Committee from time to time directs by resolution.
- 22.2.3 Without limiting the generality of **Rule 22.2.2**, the Executive Committee from time to time may direct the Trustees to:
 - (a) invest money belonging to the ABC in any form of investment; and
 - (b) deal with any investment in any manner,

which the Executive Committee considers expedient.

22.3 Copyright Vested in Trustees

Ownership of copyright in Reporting Statements, Circulation Summaries and any other material published by the ABC in any form and in any medium is vested in the Trustees on trust for the ABC.

22.4 Dealing with Income and Property on Dissolution

- 22.4.1 On the winding up or dissolution of the ABC, if there is any property remaining after the satisfaction of all the ABC's debts and liabilities that property must not be paid to or distributed among the Members but must be given or transferred to some other organisation or organisations which have objects similar to the ABC's objects.
- 22.4.2 For the purposes of **Rule 22.4.1**, the organisation or organisations must be determined:
 - (a) by the Members at a Special General Meeting convened for that purpose at or before the time of winding up or dissolution; or
 - (b) in default of a Special General meeting under **Rule 22.4.2(a)**, by a Judge of the Supreme Court of New South Wales who has or acquires jurisdiction in the matter.
- 22.4.3 If it is proposed to wind up or dissolve the ABC and the Executive Committee determines that upon the winding up or dissolution there would be a deficit, persons:
 - (a) who would be Members at; or
 - (b) who were Members at any time during the twelve months immediately preceding,

the date of the proposed winding up or dissolution will be subject to, and must pay to the ABC, a special levy determined by the General Committee to meet the deficiency.

PART 5 AUDITS AND AUDITORS

23.0 AUDITS

23.1 Types of Audit

The audits which may be carried out in accordance with these Rules and the Audit Guidelines are:

- 23.1.1 Circulation Audits:
- 23.1.2 Initial Audits:
- 23.1.3 Inspection Audits;
- 23.1.4 Review Audits; and
- 23.1.5 any other type of audit under **Rule 23.6**.

23.2 Circulation Audit

A Circulation Audit must be carried out for the purposes of providing an ABC Audit Report for an Audit Period as provided in **Rule S5-2.2**.

23.3 Initial Audit

An Initial Audit must be carried out in the circumstances described in Rule 6.3.

23.4 Inspection Audit

The Executive Committee or the Audit Inspector at any time may direct an Inspection Audit in respect of a Publication.

23.5 Review Audit

The Executive Committee may direct a Review Audit be carried out:

- 23.5.1 as provided in Rule 36.0 and Schedule 7; or
- 23.5.2 where the Executive Committee determines that the data in a Reporting Statement cannot be verified to the satisfaction of the Executive Committee.

23.6 Other Audits

The Executive Committee may authorise audits to be carried out by the ABC in respect of any matter which the Executive Committee considers is within the ABC's objects under **Rule 3.0**.

23.7 Audit Guidelines

- 23.7.1 The Executive Committee from time to time may determine in writing Audit Guidelines to be observed by Auditors when carrying out Audits under these Rules and by Publisher Members when preparing ABC Publisher Reports required by **Part 6**.
- 23.7.2 All determinations of the Executive Committee under **Rule 23.7.1** must be consistent with these Rules.

23.8 Audit Only by Approved Auditor

An Audit must only be carried out by an Auditor approved by the Executive Committee and registered with the ABC under **Rule 24.0**.

23.9 Audit Must be in Accordance with Rules and Audit Guidelines

An Auditor must:

- 23.9.1 carry out an Audit in accordance with these Rules and the Audit Guidelines; and
- 23.9.2 ensure that they use the latest version of these Rules and Audit Guidelines when performing an Audit.

23.10 Audit Records Must be Kept

A Publisher Member must keep all records and documents which are relevant to supporting the circulation claims made in an ABC Audit Report for not less than twenty-four months after the date of that ABC Audit Report.

23.11 Publisher Member Must Comply With Request for Inspection Audit or Review Audit 23.11.1 lf:

(a) the Executive Committee or the Audit Inspector directs an Inspection Audit under **Rule 23.4**; or

(b) the Executive Committee directs a Review Audit under **Rule 23.5** in respect of a Publication.

the Audit Inspector must notify in writing the Publisher Member who publishes that Publication of the Executive Committee or the Audit Inspector's direction and request the Publisher Member to provide access to their relevant records and documents for the purpose of the Audit.

- 23.11.2 A Publisher Member who receives a notice under **Rule 23.11.1** must comply with the request in that notice within fourteen days after the date the Publisher Member receives the notice.
- 23.11.3 For the purposes of an Inspection Audit or a Review Audit, a Publisher Member must:
 - (a) provide to the Auditor nominated by the Audit Inspector or appointed by the Executive Committee (as the case may be):
 - (i) full and unrestricted access to all of the Publisher Member's records and documents which are relevant to supporting circulation claims; and
 - (ii) an authority addressed to every third party involved in the distribution of the Publication being audited (for example distributors, mailing houses or computer bureaus) requesting them to provide full and unrestricted access to their records and documents relevant to supporting circulation claims; and
 - (b) if requested by the Audit Inspector, ensure that the Publisher Member's relevant staff attend the Audit.
- 23.11.4 A Publisher Member who does not comply with the provisions of **Rules 23.11.2 or 23.11.3** will not be entitled to have their circulation claims, which are the subject of the Inspection Audit or Review Audit, included in any Circulation Summary.

23.12 Auditor Must Attend Inspection Audit or Review Audit

- 23.12.1 If requested by the Audit Inspector, the Auditor appointed by the Executive Committee to the Circulation Audit which is the subject of an Inspection Audit or a Review Audit must attend that Inspection Audit or Review Audit.
- 23.12.2 An Auditor requested to attend an Inspection Audit or a Review Audit must:
 - (a) co-operate with the Auditor performing that Inspection Audit or Review Audit; and
 - (b) if requested by the Audit Inspector, provide all of their working papers relating to their Circulation Audit which is the subject of that Inspection Audit or Review Audit.

24.0 AUDITORS

24.1 Auditor to be Qualified

An individual who wishes to be an Auditor must be a current financial member of one of the following organisations:

- 24.1.1 The Institute of Chartered Accountants (Australia);
- 24.1.2 CPA Australia;
- 24.1.3 The National Institute of Accountants;
- 24.1.4 The Association of Taxation and Management Accountants (Australia) in one of the following categories of membership:
 - (a) Member;
 - (b) Fellow; or
 - (c) International Member; or
- 24.1.5 any other association which the Executive Committee considers has equivalent standards of expertise, professionalism and independence for its members as the associations in **Rules 24.1.1 to 24.1.4**.

24.2 Auditor to be Approved

- 24.2.1 The Executive Committee may approve to be an Auditor an individual who:
 - (a) is qualified in accordance with Rule 24.1; and
 - (b) the Executive Committee considers is of good character and professional reputation; and

- (c) either is employed by a Member of the ABC or holds ABC Membership.
- 24.2.2 An approval under **Rule 24.2.1** is personal to the individual approved to be an Auditor and does not operate to include any entity which may employ that individual.

24.3 Registration of Auditor

- 24.3.1 An individual approved as an Auditor under **Rule 24.2** will be registered with the ABC by the Executive Director as an Auditor approved to carry out Audits under these Rules.
- 24.3.2 The Executive Director will maintain a list of the individuals approved and registered as Auditors.
- 24.3.3 An individual approved as an Auditor or involved in the audit process may be required to attend training workshops relating to the application of the ABC Rules and Audit Guidelines and other topics, as determined by the Executive Committee, to maintain their ABC registration.

24.4 Auditor Must Notify Cessation of Qualification

If an Auditor ceases to be a current financial member of one of the organisations stipulated in **Rule 24.1**, the Auditor must notify the Executive Committee of that fact.

24.5 Appointment of an Auditor to an Audit

Subject to **Rule 24.6**, the Executive Committee must appoint an Auditor to carry out Circulation Audits of a Publication.

24.6 Auditors for Regional Newspapers and Country Press

- 24.6.1 Publisher Members in the Membership Group of Regional Daily Newspapers, Regional Sunday Newspapers and Country Press may compile a list of all individuals who are on the ABC's register of Auditors and who are local to any of the places where those Publisher Members' Publications are published.
- 24.6.2 If requested by a Publisher Member in that Membership Group and if practicable, the Executive Committee must appoint one or more of those local Auditors to carry out Audits of that Publisher Member's Publication.

24.7 Request for Change of Appointed Auditor

- 24.7.1 A Publisher Member may at any time request the Executive Committee to withdraw the appointment of an Auditor under **Rule 24.5** in respect of a Publication of that Publisher Member (**Existing Auditor**) and appoint another Auditor.
- 24.7.2 A Publisher Member who makes a request under **Rule 24.7.1** must:
 - (a) make that request in writing; and
 - (b) provide their reasons for requesting the withdrawal of the appointment of the Existing Auditor.
- 24.7.3 If the Executive Committee decides that the reasons provided under Rule 24.7.2:
 - (a) do not warrant the withdrawal of the appointment of the Existing Auditor:
 - (i) the Executive Committee must advise the Publisher Member who lodged the request of that decision; and
 - (ii) the Existing Auditor must proceed to carry out the Circulation Audits required by these Rules in respect of the relevant Publication; or
 - (b) warrant the withdrawal of the appointment of the Existing Auditor, the Executive Committee must:
 - (i) advise both the Publisher Member who lodged the request and the Existing Auditor of that decision; and
 - (ii) appoint another Auditor under **Rule 24.5**.

24.8 Appointment of Audit Inspector

- 24.8.1 The Executive Committee must appoint an Audit Inspector on terms and conditions which the Executive Committee considers appropriate.
- 24.8.2 The Audit Inspector must be an employee of the ABC.

24.9 Role of Audit Inspector

- 24.9.1 The Audit Inspector:
 - (a) must advise the Executive Committee concerning matters relevant to Audits, including processes and procedures to ensure the integrity and accuracy of Audits; and
 - (b) is responsible for ensuring that the Rules relating to Audits and the Audit Guidelines meet the needs of Members advised from time to time by the Executive Committee.
- 24.9.2 The Audit Inspector must, or must arrange for ABC Staff Auditors to, carry out Inspection Audits and Review Audits when directed by the Executive Committee in accordance with these Rules.
- 24.9.3 The Audit Inspector must carry out the responsibilities assigned to the Audit Inspector under any other provision of these Rules.

24.10 Removal of Auditor from Register

The Executive Committee may withdraw its approval of an Auditor under **Rule 24.2** and direct the Executive Director to remove the Auditor's name from the list of approved and registered Auditors maintained under **Rule 24.3** if:

- 24.10.1 the Auditor requests their name be removed from the list of approved and registered Auditors;
- 24.10.2 the Auditor ceases to be a current financial member of any of the organisations listed in **Rule 24.1**; or
- 24.10.3 in the opinion of the Executive Committee, the Auditor:
 - (a) has failed to carry out an Audit in accordance with these Rules or the Audit Guidelines:
 - (b) has failed to comply with the requirements of Rule 23.12; or
 - (c) is no longer a person of good character and professional reputation.

PART 6 - ABC MANDATORY REPORTS, AUDIT PERIODS AND CIRCULATION SUMMARIES

25.0 ABC MANDATORY REPORTS

25.1 Publisher Member to Prepare and Submit ABC Mandatory Reports

A Publisher Member must submit an ABC Mandatory Report for all Reporting Periods which apply to any or all of its Publications for which it is a Member and must prepare and submit the ABC Mandatory Report in accordance with the latest version of these Rules and Audit Guidelines.

25.2 Form of ABC Mandatory Report Determined by Executive Committee

- 25.2.1 The Executive Committee from time to time may determine in writing:
 - the form or forms in which ABC Mandatory Reports are to be submitted to the ABC;
 - (b) the information to be contained in ABC Mandatory Reports and the procedures to be adopted in preparing them; and
 - (c) the frequency that an ABC Mandatory Report can be submitted to the ABC; and reported.
- 25.2.2 All determinations of the Executive Committee under **Rule 25.2.1** must be consistent with these Rules.
- 25.2.3 A Publisher Member must ensure that they use the form of ABC Mandatory Report which is current from time to time.

25.3 Records Must be Kept

A Publisher Member must keep all records and documents which are relevant to supporting the circulation claims made in an ABC Mandatory Report for not less than 24 months after the date of the ABC Mandatory Report.

26.0 REPORTING PERIODS

26.1 Reporting Periods

The Reporting Periods for ABC Mandatory Reports for the purposes of these Rules are as required in **Schedule 5**.

26.2 Variation of Reporting Periods

Notwithstanding any other provision of these Rules, the Executive Committee may vary a Reporting Period in respect of a Publication:

- 26.2.1 on written application to the Executive Committee by the Publisher Member who publishes the Publication;
- 26.2.2 where that Publisher Member has provided documentation in support of their application; and
- 26.2.3 the Executive Committee considers the variation is warranted because of the occurrence of an event outside the control of the Publisher Member which would result in the circulation data for the relevant Publication being misleading, deceptive or unreliable if the variation was not made.

26.3 ABC Mandatory Report Must Include Every Publishing Day

- 26.3.1 Subject to the remaining provisions of this **Rule 26.3**, an ABC Mandatory Report for a Reporting Period must include every Publishing Day in respect of the Publication to which it relates subsequent to the immediately previous Reporting Period for that Publication.
- 26.3.2 Publisher Members publishing a:
 - (a) Metropolitan Monday Friday Daily Newspaper;
 - (b) Metropolitan Saturday Newspaper;
 - (c) Metropolitan Sunday Newspaper;
 - (d) Regional Daily Newspaper;
 - (e) Regional Sunday Newspaper;
 - (f) Country Press; or

(g) Newspaper Inserted Magazine provided with a newspaper nominated in **Rules 26.3.2**(a) to (f),

may elect to omit from an ABC Mandatory Report for that newspaper or Newspaper Inserted Magazine those Issues published on:

- (h) officially gazetted public holidays in the state or territory of publication; and
- (i) other days nominated by the Executive Committee from time to time and advised to affected Members and in this respect the Executive Committee must nominate relevant days relating to the Christmas, New Year and Easter holiday periods each year.

26.3.3 Publisher Members publishing a Weekly Magazine:

- (a) may elect to omit from an ABC Mandatory Report for that magazines those Issues published on officially gazetted public holidays:
 - (i) in the state or territory of publication; or
 - (ii) where that magazine is published nationally, which are held on the same or different dates in the various states and territories of publication; and
- (b) other days nominated by the Executive Committee from time to time and advised to affected Members and in this respect the Executive Committee must nominate relevant days relating to the Christmas, New Year and Easter holiday periods each year.

26.3.4 The Executive Committee may omit days from a Reporting Period:

- (a) in respect of a Publication if:
 - (i) the Publisher Member for that Publication makes a written application to the Executive Committee requesting that omission;
 - (ii) the reason for the Publisher Member's request for omission of days relates to an event beyond the control of the Publisher Member (**Event**);
 - (iii) the Publisher Member provides evidence satisfactory to the Executive Committee which substantiates that the Event occurred; and
 - (iv) the Executive Committee considers that the Event would result in the circulation data for the Publication for the relevant Reporting Period being misleading, deceptive or unreliable if days were not omitted from the Reporting Period that Publication; or
- (b) if the Executive Committee on its own initiative considers that the omission of days is reasonable in respect of a certain class of Publication in all the circumstances and the omission applies to all Publisher Members who publish that class of Publication.

26.3.5 Publisher Members publishing a:

- (a) Metropolitan Monday Friday Daily Newspaper;
- (b) Metropolitan Saturday Newspaper;
- (c) Metropolitan Sunday Newspaper;
- (d) Regional Daily Newspaper;
- (e) Regional Sunday Newspaper;
- (f) Country Press; or
- (g) Newspaper Inserted Magazine provided with a newspaper nominated in **Rules 26.3.5**(a) to (f),

may elect not to publish an Issue of the Publication on a regular Publishing Day which is either:

- (h) an officially gazetted public holiday in the state or territory in which the Publication is published;
- (i) a day nominated by the Executive Committee and advised to affected Members pursuant to **Rule 26.3.2(f)**; or
- (j) a day which immediately precedes or immediately follows a day mentioned in **Rules 26.3.5(h) or (i)**,

and instead may:

- (k) publish a single Issue across a period which comprises only days referred to in **Rules 26.3.5** (h) to (j) or any combination of them (**Occasion**); and
- (I) for the purposes of an ABC Mandatory Report, elect to regard all sales of that single Issue made across the Occasion as being made on a day nominated by the Publisher Member and which falls in the Occasion,

but only in respect of:

- (m) for a National Newspaper or a Newspaper Inserted Magazine provided with a National Newspaper, not more than five Occasions each year; and
- (n) for any other newspaper or a Newspaper Inserted Magazine provided with that other newspaper, not more than four Occasions each year,

where a Publisher Member includes an Occasion (or more than one Occasion) in a Reporting Period for a Publication, the Publisher Member must advise that fact to the ABC. In that case, the ABC must note in any relevant Circulation Summary covering the Reporting Period that the number of Issues for that Publication for the Reporting Period includes the relevant number of 'Bumper Issues'.

26.3.6 If a Publisher Member elects to omit gazetted public holidays or other days in accordance with Rules 26.3.2 or 26.3.3 or accepts an omission allowed by the Executive Committee under Rule 26.3.4 (or where the Publisher Member is entitled to do so, omits days in accordance with both of those Rules), the Publisher Member must submit an ABC Mandatory Report for the Reporting Period with days omitted as provided in (or where the Publisher Member is entitled to do so, as provided in more than one of those Rules), as the case may be.

27.0 SUBMITTING ABC PUBLISHER REPORTS

27.1 Publisher Member Responsible for Content of an ABC Publisher Report

- 27.1.1 Each ABC Publisher Report submitted by a Publisher Member to the ABC must be signed:
 - (a) where the Publisher Member is an individual, by that individual;
 - (b) where the Publisher Member is a partnership, by the partner designated as the senior or managing partner or similar; or
 - (c) where the Publisher Member is a corporation, by the Publisher Member's chief executive officer or another officer reporting directly to the chief executive officer who is duly authorised by the Publisher Member to sign ABC Publisher Reports.
- 27.1.2 For the purposes of these Rules, a Publisher Member is solely responsible for the accuracy of an ABC Publisher Report in respect of that Member's Publication and the signing of an ABC Publisher Report by or on behalf of the Publisher Member in accordance with Rule 27.1.1 will be deemed to be a representation to the ABC that the Publisher Member verifies the accuracy of the ABC Publisher Report.

27.2 Submission of an ABC Publisher Report

An ABC Publisher Report must be submitted by a Publisher Member to the ABC not more than thirty days after the end of the Reporting Period to which the ABC Publisher Report relates.

27.3 Fee for Late Submission

- 27.3.1 If a Publisher Member submits an ABC Publisher Report after the time stipulated in **Rule 27.2**, the Publisher Member must pay to the ABC a late submission fee determined from time to time by the Executive Committee.
- 27.3.2 The fee for late submission of an ABC Publisher Report must accompany the ABC Publisher Report when it is submitted and in those circumstances, if the ABC accepts the ABC Publisher Report under **Rule 27.4**, the ABC will only be obliged to include the content of the ABC Publisher Report in the relevant Circulation Summary if that inclusion will not otherwise delay the publication of that Circulation Summary.
- 27.3.3 If a Publisher Member fails to pay a late submission fee required under **Rule 27.3.1** within ninety days after the end of the Reporting Period for the ABC Publisher Report to which the late submission fee applies, the Executive Committee will regard that failure to be a failure to pay a fee for the purposes of **Rule 7.3**.

27.4 Acceptance of ABC Publisher Report by ABC

- 27.4.1 The ABC will only include in a relevant Circulation Summary the content of an ABC Publisher Report accepted by the ABC.
- 27.4.2 The ABC's acceptance of an ABC Publisher Report will be deemed to have occurred immediately before the content of the ABC Publisher Report is published in the relevant Circulation Summary or on the ABC's website.
- 27.4.3 If the ABC accepts an ABC Publisher Report, that acceptance does not constitute a representation by the ABC that the content of that ABC Publisher Report is correct.
- 27.4.4 Subject to **Rule 27.4.5**, the ABC will accept an ABC Publisher Report for the purposes of this **Rule 27.4**:
 - (a) subject to the result of any Inspection Audit or Review Audit directed by the Executive Committee in respect of the ABC Publisher Report or its content; and
 - (b) if the ABC has no reason to believe that the ABC Publisher Report and its submission does not comply with the requirements of these Rules.
- 27.4.5 The ABC will not accept an ABC Publisher Report if:
 - (a) the Executive Committee considers that the content of the ABC Publisher Report has not been calculated, prepared or certified in accordance with these Rules;
 - (b) the ABC Publisher Report has not been submitted within the time stipulated in **Rule 27.2** and the required fee for late submission has not been paid;
 - (c) the Audit Inspector has:
 - (i) advised the Executive Committee that there is a concern relating to the reliability of the content of the ABC Publisher Report; and
 - (ii) provided the Executive Committee with reasons for that concern which the Executive Committee considers are such that the ABC Publisher Report should not be accepted by the ABC;
 - the ABC has exercised its discretion not to accept the ABC Publisher Report under **Rule S5-1.5**; or
 - (e) Rule 28.1 applies.

27.5 ABC May Request Amendment of ABC Publisher Report

The ABC may request a Publisher Member to amend an ABC Publisher Report in accordance with **Rule \$5-1.4**.

27.6 Voluntary Reporting

A Publisher Member may report voluntary data in accordance with Rule S5-6.0.

28.0 ABC AUDIT REPORT MAY BE REQUIRED

28.1 ABC Audit Report May be Required

- 28.1.1 If a Publisher Member ascertains that the Average Net Paid Sales in Australia for a Publication for a Reporting Period (**Current Reporting Period**) has increased by more than 10% over that shown in the ABC Publisher Report for the equivalent Reporting Period in the previous year, the Publisher Member must ensure an ABC Audit Report is submitted instead of an ABC Publisher Report for the Current Reporting Period.
- 28.1.2 If **Rule 28.1.1** applies, the Current Reporting Period will be deemed to be an Audit Period for that Publication for the purposes of these Rules.

28.2 Publisher Member May Elect to Ensure an ABC Audit Report is Submitted

- 28.2.1 A Publisher Member may elect to ensure an ABC Audit Report is submitted for a Publication instead of an ABC Publisher Report for a Reporting Period.
- 28.2.2 If a Publisher Member elects to ensure an ABC Audit Report is submitted for a Reporting Period under **Rule 28.2.1**, that Reporting Period will be deemed to be an Audit Period for that Publication for the purposes of these Rules.

29.0 ABC AUDIT REPORTS

- 29.1 Publisher Member must arrange for their Auditor to submit an ABC Audit Report for the required Reporting Periods.
- 29.1.1 A Publisher Member must arrange for their Auditor to submit an ABC Audit Report for the required Reporting Periods relevant to any or all of its Publications for which it is a Member.
- 29.1.2 All ABC Audit Reports must be prepared and submitted in accordance with the latest version of these Rules and Audit Guidelines.

29.2 ABC Audit Report Must be Audited by Appointed Auditor

All ABC Audit Reports submitted to the ABC in respect of Circulation Audits for a Publication must be audited by the Auditor appointed by the Executive Committee under **Rule 24.5**.

29.3 Publisher Member Must Provide Information and Access to Auditor

- 29.3.1 A Publisher Member must make available to an Auditor carrying out an Audit of that Publisher Member's Publication for the purposes of these Rules all records, documents, information and explanations which the Auditor considers necessary and reasonable to enable the Auditor to prepare an accurate ABC Audit Report.
- 29.3.2 If a Publisher Member refuses to make available any of the matters referred to in **Rule 29.3.1**, the Auditor must issue a written demand on that Publisher Member for access to, or the provision of, the necessary records, documents, information or explanations.
- 29.3.3 If the Auditor's written demand is refused or not fully complied with by the Publisher within seven days of the demand being made, the Auditor must immediately advise the Audit Inspector.

29.4 Publisher Member Responsible for Content of ABC Audit Report

- 29.4.1 Each ABC Audit Report submitted by a Publisher Member to the ABC must be signed:
 - (a) where the Publisher Member is an individual, by that individual;
 - (b) where the Publisher Member is a partnership, by the partner designated as the senior or managing partner or similar; or
 - (c) where the Publisher Member is a corporation, by the Publisher Member's chief executive officer or another officer reporting directly to the chief executive officer who is duly authorised by the Publisher Member to sign ABC Audit Reports.
- 29.4.2 For the purposes of these Rules, a Publisher Member is solely responsible for the accuracy of an ABC Audit Report in respect of that Member's Publication and the signing of an ABC Audit Report by or on behalf of the Publisher Member in accordance with **Rule 29.4.1** will be deemed to be a representation to the ABC that the Publisher Member verifies the accuracy of the ABC Audit Report.

29.5 Auditor's Certificate

Each ABC Audit Report submitted by a Publisher Member must be accompanied by an Auditor's Certificate.

29.6 Submission of ABC Audit Report

An ABC Audit Report must be submitted by an Auditor to the ABC not more than thirty days after the end of the Audit Period to which the ABC Audit Report relates.

29.7 Fee for Late Submission

- 29.7.1 If an ABC Audit Report is submitted after the time stipulated in **Rule 29.6**, the Publisher Member must pay to the ABC a late submission fee determined from time to time by the Executive Committee.
- 29.7.2 The fee for late submission of an ABC Audit Report must accompany the ABC Audit Report when it is submitted and in those circumstances, if the ABC accepts the ABC Audit Report under **Rule 29.8**, the ABC will only be obliged to include the content of the ABC Audit Report in the relevant Circulation Summary if that inclusion will not otherwise delay the publication of that Circulation Summary.
- 29.7.3 If a Publisher Member fails to pay a late submission fee required under **Rule 29.7.1** within ninety days after the end of the Audit Period for the ABC Audit Report to which the late submission fee applies, the Executive Committee will regard that failure to be a failure to pay a fee for the purposes of **Rule 7.3**.

29.8 Acceptance of ABC Audit Report by ABC

- 29.8.1 The ABC will only include in a relevant Circulation Summary the content of an ABC Audit Report accepted by the ABC.
- 29.8.2 The ABC's acceptance of an ABC Audit Report will be deemed to have occurred immediately before the content of the ABC Audit Report is published in the relevant Circulation Summary or on the ABC's website.
- 29.8.3 If the ABC accepts an ABC Audit Report, that acceptance does not constitute a representation by the ABC that the content of that ABC Audit Report is correct.
- 29.8.4 Subject to **Rule 29.8.5**, the ABC will accept an ABC Audit Report for the purposes of this **Rule 29.8**:
 - (a) subject to inspection by the Audit Inspector of the ABC Audit Report and the Auditor's Certificate and the right of the Audit Inspector to:
 - (i) inspect all records, documents and information which the Auditor used to form the view expressed in the Auditor's Certificate; and
 - (ii) have access to any other information held by the Publisher Member or the Auditor which the Audit Inspector reasonably considers is necessary to interpret or verify the content of the ABC Audit Report;
 - (b) subject to the result of any Inspection Audit or Review Audit directed by the Executive Committee or the Audit Inspector (as the case may be) in accordance with these Rules in respect of the ABC Audit Report or its content; and
 - (c) if the ABC has no reason to believe that the ABC Audit Report and its submission does not comply with the requirements of these Rules and the Audit Guidelines.
- 29.8.5 The ABC will not accept an ABC Audit Report if:
 - (a) the Auditor's Certificate in respect of the ABC Audit Report contains a qualification;
 - (b) the Executive Committee considers that the content of the ABC Audit Report has not been verified in accordance with these Rules and the Audit Guidelines;
 - (c) the ABC Audit Report has not been submitted within the time stipulated in **Rule 29.6** and the required fee for late submission has not been paid;
 - (d) the Audit Inspector has:
 - (i) advised the Executive Committee that there is a concern relating to the reliability of the content of the ABC Audit Report; and
 - (ii) provided the Executive Committee with reasons for that concern which the Executive Committee considers are such that the ABC Audit Report should not be accepted by the ABC; or
 - (e) the ABC has exercised its discretion not to accept the ABC Audit Report under \$5-1.5

29.9 ABC May Request Amendment of ABC Audit Report

The ABC may request a Publisher Member to amend an ABC Audit Report in accordance with \$5-1.4.

30.0 CIRCULATION SUMMARIES

30.1 ABC Will Prepare and Distribute Circulation Summaries

After the end of a Reporting Period the ABC will prepare Circulation Summaries in respect of that Reporting Period and distribute them to Members.

30.2 Form and Content of Circulation Summaries

Each Circulation Summary prepared pursuant to **Rule 30.1** must:

- 30.2.1 summarise the contents of all Reporting Statements which:
 - (a) Publisher Members have lodged with the ABC for the most recent Audit Period or Reporting Period; and
 - (b) have been accepted by the ABC in accordance with these Rules; and
- 30.2.2 be in the form determined by the Executive Committee from time to time.

30.3 Circulation Summaries Prepared and Issued Without Opinion

Each Circulation Summary prepared and distributed by the ABC under these Rules is prepared and distributed on the basis that the ABC:

- 30.3.1 has relied on the representations under Rules **29.4.2 or 27.1.2** of each Publisher Member which has submitted a Reporting Statement that the content of the Reporting Statement is factual and accurate; and
- 30.3.2 includes the content of a Reporting Statement on the basis of the representations under Rules **29.4.2 or 27.1.2** and without expressing any opinion.

30.4 Members to Receive Circulation Summaries

- 30.4.1 Each Member will receive access to each Circulation Summary prepared by the ABC.
- 30.4.2 A Member may purchase from the ABC, access to historical Circulation Summaries and or other reported data; at the price determined by the Executive Committee from time to time.

31.0 NEWSPAPER INSERTED MAGAZINES

The provisions of these Rules concerning the calculation of the numbers of Average Net Paid Sales of a Publication (and their classes and categories) and Average Other Sales in Australia allowed to be shown in a Reporting Statement apply, with the necessary changes being made, to the calculation of the respective numbers for the average distribution of Newspaper Inserted Magazines allowed to be shown in a Reporting Statement prepared for that purpose.

32.0 All sales for a Publication must be reported in accordance with **Schedule 5**.

PART 8 AUDIT BUREAU OF VERIFICATION SERVICES

33.0 AUDIT BUREAU OF VERIFICATION SERVICES

33.1 Name

There is a division of the ABC named the Audit Bureau of Verification Services ("ABVS").

33.2 Purpose of ABVS

The Executive Committee may cause the ABVS to carry out and report on Audits (other than Circulation Audits) as the Executive Committee from time to time determines in accordance with those ABC objects specified in **Rule 3.1.5**.

33.3 Audits by ABVS

An Audit carried out by the ABVS under Rule 33.2:

- 33.3.1 may be carried out:
 - (a) for Members of the ABC only;
 - (b) for fees which the Executive Committee from time to time determines; and
- 33.3.2 must be carried out:
 - (a) in accordance with the procedures, rules and guidelines; and
 - (b) on such terms and conditions,

as the Executive Committee from time to time determines.

33.4 Reports of Audits by ABVS

A report of an Audit carried out under Rule 33.2:

- 33.4.1 must be published under the name of the ABVS and must bear the logo of the ABVS;
- 33.4.2 must indicate that the ABVS is a division of the ABC:
- 33.4.3 subject to **Rules 33.4.1 and 33.4.2**, must be in a form or forms which the Executive Committee from time to time determines;
- 33.4.4 is not circulation information for the purposes of **Rule 5.1** and does not constitute a Reporting Statement or a Circulation Summary for the purpose of these Rules; and
- 33.4.5 may be provided by the ABC to Members on terms and conditions and in a manner as the Executive Committee from time to time determines.

33.5 Application of Fees

All fees received by the ABC in respect of Audits carried out under **Rule 33.2** must be applied in accordance with **Rule 22.1**.

PART 9 MISCELLANEOUS

34.0 PUBLICITY

34.1 Statements by Applicants for Membership and Publisher Members Elect

- 34.1.1 An applicant for membership of the ABC may not make any reference to ABC membership until the applicant has been advised by the ABC that their application has been accepted and they have been admitted as a Member.
- 34.1.2 The Executive Committee may delay, for any period it considers appropriate, consideration of an application for membership where the applicant has not complied with **Rule 34.1.1**.
- 34.1.3 A Publisher Member Elect under Rule 6.3.1 in addition to the requirements of Rule 34.1.1:
 - (a) must not make any claim, representation or statement that they are a Member in respect of a publication until they are admitted as a Full Member in the class of Publisher Member for that publication under **Rule 6.3.3**; and
 - (b) may state that their application for membership has been approved (and the month it was approved) and that the approval is conditional on their complying with the requirements for admission as a Publisher Member, but no other reference to the ABC may be used in that statement or any other publicity statement.

34.2 Use of ABC Logo Generally

- 34.2.1 Subject to **Rule 34.2.2**, a Full Member may use:
 - (a) the logo of the ABC; and
 - (b) words denoting membership of the ABC,

on its letterheads, advertising matter or publications while they are a Member.

- 34.2.2 A Publisher Member must not use the logo of the ABC or words denoting its membership of the ABC:
 - (a) in respect of a Publication until it is admitted as a Full Member in respect of that Publication in accordance with **Rule 6.3**; or
 - (b) in connection with any publication which is not the subject of a membership of the ABC.

34.3 No Publicity Until Circulation Summary Published

A Member must not, and must not allow another person to, publicise the content of any Reporting Statement before:

- 34.3.1 that content is accepted by the ABC for inclusion in a Circulation Summary and formally released to members in a preliminary release of circulation data which will appear in a Circulation Summary to be distributed to Members in accordance with **Rule 32.1**; and
- 34.3.2 the date stipulated in the ABC's preliminary release made under **Rule 34.3.1**.

34.4 Use of ABC Logo and Statements in Relation to Circulation Data

- 34.4.1 A Member must not use or position the logo of the ABC in connection with any statement concerning the circulation data for a Publication in such a way as to imply that non-audited data has been Audited and accepted by the ABC under these Rules.
- 34.4.2 If a Member makes any statement concerning the circulation data for a Publication and involving any figures sourced to the ABC or the ABC's Circulation Summaries, that statement:
 - (a) must acknowledge the ABC as the source of the figures and include the figures appearing in the ABC's most recently published Circulation Summary, or Notice of Amendment;
 - (b) must clearly indicate whether the figures have been the subject of a Circulation Audit or not:
 - (c) must state the Reporting Period to which the figures relate;
 - (d) must not accumulate or calculate figures across:
 - (i) the categories of Average Net Paid Sales and Average Other Sales (both as defined in **Schedule 3**) and must not refer to Average Other Sales without also referring to Average Net Paid Sales and explaining the difference between them;

- (ii) the categories of sales in Australia, New Zealand and other countries; or
- (iii) the print and Digital Version Average Net Paid Sales of a Publication; or
- (iv) Reporting Periods,

to create other figures which do not appear in any Circulation Summary or which relate to periods which are not Reporting Periods for the Publication; and

(e) where eighty per cent or more of Average Net Paid Sales (as defined in **Schedule 3**) in Australia are attributable to one of the categories stipulated in **Rule S3-2.3.2 in Schedule 3**, must clearly indicate the actual percentage of those Average Net Paid Sales in that category.

34.5 Statements of Comparison

If a Member makes any statement involving a comparison of circulation data, they must comply with the following requirements in relation to that statement:

- 34.5.1 The Member must comply with **Rule 34.4.2**.
- 34.5.2 Where a comparison is made between figures sourced to the ABC or the ABC's Circulation Summaries:
 - (a) the Reporting Period for each figure must be shown;
 - (b) the comparison must be Year on Year reporting period;
 - (c) an additional comparison of current period to prior period can be made only if the year on year comparison is also provided;
 - (d) for a new publication where a year on year comparison is not available a comparison with prior period only may be made.
- 34.5.3 Comparisons must be on a like for like basis and figures must not be manipulated so as to create or attempt to create a false impression.
- 34.5.4 If the publishing frequencies of the Publications being compared are different, the comparison must include their respective publishing frequencies.
- 34.5.5 A Member must not compare data relating to an ABC Audit Report with data relating to an ABC Publisher Report unless it is for the purposes under Rule 34.5.2 (c).
- 34.5.6 A Member must not compare figures sourced to the ABC or the ABC's Circulation Summaries for a Publication with figures:
 - (a) from any other source; or
 - (b) relating to a publication not published by a Publisher Member,

so as to create an impression that the sets of figures can be compared on an equal footing.

- 34.5.7 A Publisher member may apply to the Executive Committee to accumulate Average Net Paid Sales across Publication(s).
- 34.5.8 All publicity requirements relating to ABC Voluntary Reports will be determined by the Executive Committee. The Executive Committee will be guided by the following:
 - (a) A Publisher Member can only make like for like comparisons with other data from the same Publication, not comparisons with other Publication(s).
 - (b) Additional Data must be reported with the relevant Average Net Paid Sales figure or corresponding Specific Issue Net Paid Sales figure.
 - (c) For Specific Issue Reporting only the Net Paid Sales figure can be reported and the Average Net Paid Sales figure must be reported for the Reporting Period in which the Issue appeared or the prior Reporting Period in the event that the Specific Issue Reporting is before the close of a period.

34.6 Statements Concerning Circulation Generally

- 34.6.1 Subject to **Rule 34.6.2**, a Publisher Member may make general statements concerning the aspects of the field of circulation, the quality of circulation or the merits of their publication generally.
- 34.6.2 Any statement made by a Publisher Member of the nature described in **Rule 34.6.1** must not be made in such a manner so as to appear in any way to:
 - (a) have been issued with the imprimatur or the authority of; or
 - (b) be associated with,

the ABC.

34.7 Provisions Relating to ABVS Information

The provisions of this **Rule 34.0** apply, with the necessary changes being made, to any statement by a Member concerning any figures sourced to the ABVS, the result of any ABVS Audit or the content of any ABVS Audit report, all pursuant to **Rule 33.0**.

34.8 Restriction on Use of ABC Communications

A Member must not reproduce, republish or release any part of any correspondence or other communication from the ABC unless:

- (a) required by law; or
- (b) the Member obtains the prior written consent of the Executive Committee, which may be given subject to any conditions which the Executive Committee determines.

35.0 QUERY CONCERNING MEMBER'S COMPLIANCE WITH RULES

35.1 Query Procedure

Any query by a Member concerning a Member's compliance with these Rules or the Audit Guidelines, other than a challenge under **Rule 36.0**, must be lodged and dealt with as provided in **Schedule 6**.

36.0 CHALLENGE CONCERNING REPORTING STATEMENT

36.1 Challenge Procedure

Any challenge by a Member to the content of a Reporting Statement must be lodged and dealt with as provided in **Schedule 6**.

37.0 SANCTIONS UNDER RULES 35.0 AND 36.0 AND SCHEDULE 6

37.1 Sanctions

The Executive Committee may impose the following sanctions for the purposes of **Rules 35.0 and 36.0 and Schedule 6**:

- 37.1.1 as against an Auditor:
 - (a) a reprimand in writing;
 - (b) suspension as an Auditor for a period determined by the Executive Committee, with or without a requirement for training by the ABC; or
 - (c) revocation of approval and registration as an Auditor under these Rules with or without a direction that the Auditor is permanently ineligible to be approved and registered as an Auditor in the future; and
- 37.1.2 as against a Member, any or any combination of the following (in addition to the provisions of these Rules concerning the ABC's right to not accept a Reporting Statement for the inclusion of its content in a Circulation Summary) which the Executive Committee considers appropriate in all the circumstances of the case:
 - (a) A warning where the Executive Committee considers that the Member's breach of the Rules or Audit Guidelines was inadvertent.
 - (b) A formal censure for breach of the Rules or Audit Guidelines with or without a requirement for the Member to attend training by the ABC concerning the requirements of the Rules and Audit Guidelines.
 - (c) A fine payable to the ABC and not exceeding \$10,000 including GST.
 - (d) Termination of the Member's membership.

37.2 ABC's Costs

A Member against whom a sanction is imposed under **Rule 37.1** is also liable to reimburse the ABC's costs as provided in **Rule 39.0**.

38.0 RESOLUTION OF MEMBERS' ISSUES

38.1 Member Must Follow Procedures in Rules

- 38.1.1 In this **Rule 38.0**, "officer" means the Chairman, Deputy Chairman, Honorary Treasurer, Executive Director or Audit Inspector.
- 38.1.2 A Member must not bring any action against another Member or the ABC or its officers unless the Member has first exhausted all rights and remedies provided in these Rules.

39.0 INDEMNITIES

39.1 Indemnity in Relation to Enforcement Action

If the Executive Committee determines that it is necessary for the ABC to take action (whether by internal procedure, litigation or any form of alternative dispute resolution) to:

- 39.1.1 collect any moneys owing to it on any account; or
- 39.1.2 enforce any Rule,

the Member or former Member against whom the action is taken must indemnify and reimburse the ABC for all costs incurred by the ABC (including legal costs on a solicitor client basis) in any way related to that action.

39.2 Indemnity in Relation to Actions by Members or Third Parties

If the ABC is subjected to any claim or action from a Member or a third party arising (in whole or in part) from a failure by a Member to comply with any of these Rules, then that Member must indemnify and reimburse the ABC for:

- 39.2.1 all costs incurred by the ABC (including legal costs on a solicitor client basis) in any way related to that claim or action; and
- 39.2.2 any amount paid by the ABC by way of settlement, judgment or an order of any person authorised by law to make such a disposition.

39.3 Indemnity in Relation to Actions by Members

- 39.3.1 A Member who:
 - (a) brings a claim or an action against the ABC;
 - (b) joins the ABC in a claim or any action the Member takes against another Member or a third party; or
 - (c) joins the ABC in a claim or any action brought against the Member by another Member or a third party,

must indemnify and reimburse the ABC for all costs incurred by the ABC (including legal costs on a solicitor client basis) in any way related to that claim or action.

39.3.2 Nothing in this **Rule 39.3** operates so as to:

- (a) require a Member to reimburse the ABC contrary to an order of a court or any person authorised by law that the ABC must bear (in whole or in part) its own costs and expenses in any action, but if that order relates to part only of the ABC's costs then **Rule 39.3.1** applies to the remainder of those costs;
- (b) have the effect that the ABC's costs are reimbursed more than once.

40.0 AMENDMENTS TO RULES

40.1 Definitions

In this Rule 40.0 and Schedule 7 unless the context otherwise requires:

Amendment Proposal means a proposal in writing to amend any of these Rules and which provides full details of the proposal, the reasons for making the proposal, the words proposed to be amended and the exact wording of the amendment proposed.

Proponent means a Full Member who submits an Amendment Proposal.

Rule Amendment Ballot Closing Time has the meaning defined in Rule S7-1.0 in Schedule 7.

40.2 Full Member May Propose Amendment

A Full Member may propose an amendment to these Rules by submitting an Amendment Proposal to the Executive Director.

40.3 Consideration by Executive Committee

- 40.3.1 As soon as practicable after the Executive Director receives an Amendment Proposal, the Executive Director must provide a copy of the Amendment Proposal to the Executive Committee.
- 40.3.2 The Executive Committee must consider the Amendment Proposal and may:
 - require the Proponent to provide any further information concerning the Amendment Proposal which the Executive Committee requires;
 - (b) obtain any advice the Executive Committee considers it requires in relation to any aspect of the Amendment Proposal and its impact on those Rules which are not part of the Amendment Proposal; and
 - (c) discuss the Amendment Proposal with the Proponent or any other Member.
- 40.3.3 During the period of the Executive Committee's consideration of the Amendment Proposal, the Proponent may:
 - (a) withdraw the Amendment Proposal; or
 - (b) with the written consent of the Executive Committee, amend the Amendment Proposal.

40.4 Consideration by General Committee

- 40.4.1 After considering the Amendment Proposal, the Executive Committee must forward to each member of the General Committee a copy of:
 - (a) the Amendment Proposal;
 - (b) any further information received pursuant to **Rule 40.3.2(a)**;
 - (c) any written advice received by the Executive Committee pursuant to Rule 40.3.2(b),

together with the Executive Committee's recommendation as to whether the Amendment Proposal should be submitted to a vote of Full Members in accordance with this **Rule 40.0** and **Schedule 7**.

40.4.2 The General Committee must determine whether the Amendment Proposal should be submitted to a vote of Full Members in accordance with this **Rule 40.0 and Schedule 7** and must make that determination at a meeting of the General Committee called for that purpose.

40.5 Result of Consideration by General Committee

- 40.5.1 If the General Committee decides that the Amendment Proposal should be put to a vote of Full Members vote in accordance with this **Rule 40.0 and Schedule 7**, the Executive Director must arrange for a ballot of Full Members in accordance with the procedures in **Schedule 7**.
- 40.5.2 If the General Committee decides that the Amendment Proposal should not be put to a vote of Full Members, the Executive Committee must advise the Proponent of that fact.

40.6 Full Members May Requisition Vote

- 40.6.1 If the General Committee decides pursuant to **Rule 40.5.2** that the Amendment Proposal should not be put to a vote of Full Members, the Proponent and at least twenty-five other Full Members may requisition in writing to the Executive Director that the Amendment Proposal be put to a vote of Full Members.
- 40.6.2 As soon as practicable after receiving a requisition in accordance with **Rule 40.6.1**, the Executive Director must arrange for a ballot of Full Members in accordance with the procedures in **Schedule 7**.

40.7 Date of Amendment

40.7.1 Subject to **Rule 40.7.2**, if more than a simple majority of votes by Full Members entitled to vote in respect of an Amendment Proposal vote in favour of a proposed amendment, these Rules will be amended in the manner proposed on and from a date which the Executive Committee determines and which is notified in the notice of the ballot for that vote pursuant to **Schedule 7**.

40.7.2 The date which the Executive Committee determines for the purposes of **Rule 40.7.1** must be a date occurring no later than six months after the Rule Amendment Ballot Closing Time.

41.0 DISSOLUTION

41.1 Dissolution

The ABC must be dissolved if:

- 41.1.1 a resolution to dissolve the ABC is carried in the same manner as provided in **Rule 40.0** and **Schedule 7** for amendments to the Rules, modified as appropriate including the requirement that the resolution to dissolve the ABC is carried by at least a two-thirds majority of votes by Full Members entitled to vote in respect of the dissolution; or
- 41.1.2 the number of Full Members drops to ten or less.

41.2. Winding Up

The ABC may be wound up if Part 5.7 of the *Corporations Act 2001* (Cth) (winding up bodies other than companies) applies.

42.0 EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE DETERMINATIONS

42.1 Definitions

In this **Rule 42.0** "Determination" means a determination of the Executive Committee concerning the application or interpretation of these Rules in accordance with their spirit and intent.

42.2 Executive Committee May Make Determinations

- 42.2.1 The Executive Committee may make a Determination either:
 - (a) in response to an enquiry from a Member concerning the application or interpretation of the Rules or any like matter; or
 - (b) where the Executive Committee considers that a Determination is required.

42.2.2 A Determination must:

- (a) be consistent with these Rules;
- (b) be circulated in writing to all Members; and
- (c) must include a reference to the category of Member, class of Member and Membership Group (as the case may be) to which the Determination applies.

42.3 Members May Dispute Determinations

- 42.3.1 If a Member disputes a determination made by the Executive Committee pursuant to **Rule**42.2, the Member may lodge with the ABC a notice in writing providing details of the dispute
 (**Dispute**) and the Dispute will be referred to the General Committee for decision.
- 42.3.2 The General Committee must determine the Dispute and in doing so must either:
 - (a) uphold the Determination;
 - (b) revoke the Determination; or
 - (c) vary the Determination, in which case the variation will be deemed to be a Determination for the purposes of this **Rule 42.0**.

42.4 Members Must Comply with Determinations

A Member must comply with a Determination which applies to that Member.

43.0 NOTICES

43.1 Service of Notices

- 43.1.1 Except where specifically stipulated otherwise in these Rules, a notice or other communication may be given by the General Committee, the Executive Committee, the Executive Director or the Audit Inspector to any Member either by:
 - (a) handing it to them personally;
 - (b) sending it by:
 - (i) pre-paid ordinary post to the Member's postal address;
 - (ii) facsimile to the Member's facsimile number; or
 - (iii) e-mail to the Member's e-mail address,

shown in the record kept by the Executive Director pursuant to **Rule 6.5** or the postal address, e-mail address or facsimile number supplied by the Member to the ABC for the giving of notices to them.

- 43.1.2 Except where specifically stipulated otherwise in these Rules, a notice or other communication may be given by a Member to the General Committee or the Executive Committee either by:
 - (a) handing it to the Executive Director personally;
 - (b) sending it by:
 - (i) pre-paid ordinary post to the ABC's postal address;
 - (ii) facsimile to the ABC's facsimile number; or
 - (iii) e-mail to the Executive Director's e-mail address.
- 43.1.3 Except where specifically stipulated otherwise in these Rules, a notice or other communication may be given by a Member to the Executive Director or the Audit Inspector either by:
 - (a) handing it to the addressee personally;
 - (b) sending it by:
 - (i) pre-paid ordinary post to the ABC's postal address marked to the attention of the addressee;
 - (ii) facsimile to the ABC's facsimile number marked to the attention of the addressee; or
 - (iii) e-mail to the addressee's e-mail address.

43.2 Deemed Receipt of Notices

A letter, facsimile transmission or e-mail is deemed to be received:

- 43.2.1 in the case of a posted letter, on the third day after the date on which the letter was posted;
- 43.2.2 in the case of a facsimile, at the time stated in a transmission report by the machine from which the facsimile was sent which indicates that the facsimile was sent in its entirety to the facsimile number of the recipient; and
- 43.2.3 in the case of an e-mail, in the absence of the receipt of a failed delivery report by the machine from which the e-mail was sent.

44.0 TRANSITIONAL PROVISIONS

44.1 Provisions Concerning Publisher Members and Membership Groups

On the commencement of these Rules:

- 44.1.1 a Publisher Member who:
 - (a) before the commencement of these Rules, was regarded by the Executive Committee as being the Publisher of a national publication; and
 - (b) publishes a Publication which is a newspaper sold nationally in Australia,

will, in respect of that Publication, be a Publisher Member in Membership Group A as a publisher of a National Newspaper; and

- 44.1.2 a Publisher Member who:
 - (a) before the commencement of these Rules, was regarded by the Executive Committee as being the Publisher of a regional newspaper; and
 - (b) publishes a Publication which is a newspaper published in other than a capital city and has the bulk of its sales on a Sunday,

will, in respect of that Publication, be a Publisher Member in Membership Group B as a publisher of a Regional Sunday Newspaper; and

44.1.3 a Publisher Member who:

- (a) before the commencement of these Rules, was not eligible to be a Publisher Member in Membership Group B as Country Press for a particular publication and as a consequence was a member of another Membership Group; and
- (b) publishes a Publication which is an agricultural publication targeted to the primary producer and other participants in the agribusiness sector,

will, in respect of that Publication, be a Publisher Member in Membership Group B as a publisher of a Country Press.

44.2 Provision Concerning Increased Number of Members of the General Committee

On the commencement of these Rules and for the purposes of the increase in the number of members of the General Committee from twenty-four to twenty-six under **Rule S2-1.0** in **Schedule 2**, the two additional positions will be regarded as positions which are casually vacant and which must be filled in accordance with these Rules.

44.3 Provision Concerning Auditors' Qualifications

- 44.3.1 An independent auditor who:
 - (a) was an auditor approved by the Executive Committee and registered with the ABC for the purposes of carrying out audits required by the previous rules of the ABC in force before the commencement of these Rules; and
 - (b) desires to continue to be an Auditor for the purposes of these Rules,

must provide evidence of their financial membership of a relevant organisation as provided in **Rule 24.1** within ninety days after the commencement of these Rules.

- 44.3.2 Until an auditor described in **Rule 44.3.1** complies with the requirements of that Rule within the time stipulated, the auditor will be deemed to be an Auditor for the purpose of these Rules.
- 44.3.3 If an auditor described in **Rule 44.3.1** does not comply with the requirements of that Rule within the time stipulated, that auditor's previous approval and registration before the commencement of these Rules will automatically terminate without any requirement for any further action by the Executive Committee or the ABC.

44.4 Provision Concerning ABC Audit Reports

For the purposes of **Rule 25.0**, the first Audit Period for all Publications will be the three or six month period (as the case may be in accordance with **Rule 25.0**) commencing 1 July 2006 and all Publisher Members must provide an ABC Audit Report for the relevant three or six month period applying to their Publications as the first Reporting Statement to be submitted after the commencement of these Rules.

44.5 Provision concerning Eligible Sales

Any sales for a Publication that were eligible for inclusion in Gross Paid Sales as at June 30 2011 under an existing subscription or agreement will remain eligible for inclusion for a period of up to 12 months from July 1, 2011.

SCHEDULE 1

APPLYING FOR MEMBERSHIP

S1-1.0 Applying for Membership Generally

A person applying for membership of the ABC must:

- S1-1.1 nominate in their membership application form the category of membership to which the person seeks admission;
- S1-1.2 where the person is seeking admission as a Full Member, nominate the class of Full Membership which they are seeking; and
- S1-1.3 submit with their membership application form the applicable amount of the annual subscription determined pursuant to **Rule 7.2.1**.

S1-2.0 Additional Matters When Applying for Publisher Membership

A person applying to be a Full Member in the class of Publisher Member, in addition to the requirements of **Rule S1-1.0**:

- S1-2.1 must nominate in writing the publication or publications in respect of which they are applying to be a Publisher Member;
- S1-2.2 where they are applying in respect of more than one publication:
 - (a) acknowledges that they will be required to have and maintain separate Publisher Membership in respect of each publication nominated if they are admitted as a Publisher Member; and
 - (b) must submit with their application form the applicable amount of the annual subscription determined pursuant to **Rule 7.2.1** in respect of each separate Publisher Membership.

\$1-3.0 Additional Matters When Applying for Advertising Agency Membership

A person applying to be a Full Member in the class of Advertising Agency Member who wishes to make circulation information issued by the ABC available at that person's offices maintained by them in more than one state or territory of Australia or at a location outside Australia, in addition to the requirements of **Rule S1-1.0**:

- S1-3.1 must nominate in writing the locations of those offices; and
- S1-3.2 acknowledges that they will be required to have and maintain separate Advertising Agency Membership in respect of each of those offices if they are admitted as an Advertising Agency Member; and
- S1-3.3 must submit with their application form the applicable amount of the annual subscription determined pursuant to **Rule 7.2.1** in respect of each separate Advertising Agency Membership.

SCHEDULE 2

COMMITTEES AND MEETINGS

S2-1.0 COMPOSITION OF GENERAL COMMITTEE

S2-1.1 Number of Members of General Committee

The number of members of the General Committee is twenty-six comprised as follows:

Membership Group Represented

Number of Members of the General Committee

Membership Group A

Publisher Members publishing:

Metropolitan Monday – Friday Daily Newspapers;

Metropolitan Saturday Newspapers;

Metropolitan Sunday Newspapers;

National Newspapers; or

Newspaper Inserted Magazines

Six

Membership Group B

Publisher Members publishing:

Regional Daily Newspapers;

Regional Sunday Newspapers; or

Country Press

Four

Membership Group C

Publisher Members publishing:

Magazines Six

Membership Group D

Advertiser Members Five

Membership Group E

Advertising Agency Members Five

S2-1.2 Provision Relating to Membership Group B

At least two of the four members of the General Committee representing Membership Group B must represent Publisher Members publishing Country Press.

S2-2.0 MEMBERSHIP GROUPS' GENERAL COMMITTEE MEMBERS

S2-2.1 Electing Representatives of Membership Groups A, B and C

- S2-2.1.1 The six members of the General Committee representing Membership Group A must be elected by the Publisher Members in Membership Group A in accordance with these Rules.
- S2–2.1.2 The four members of the General Committee representing Membership Group B, and subject to **Rule S2-1.2**, must be elected by the Publisher Members in Membership Group B in accordance with these Rules.

S2-2.1.3 The six members of the General Committee representing Membership Group C must be elected by the Publisher Members in Membership Group C in accordance with these Rules.

S2-2.2 Electing Representatives of Membership Groups D and E

- S2-2.2.1 The five members of the General Committee representing Membership Group D must be elected by the Advertiser Members in accordance with these Rules.
- S2-2.2.2 The five members of the General Committee representing Membership Group E must be elected by the Advertising Agency Members in accordance with these Rules.

S2-3.0 PROCEDURE FOR ELECTING GENERAL COMMITTEE MEMBERS

S2-3.1 Enquiry to Sitting General Committee Members

At least sixty days before the date of the next occurring Annual General Meeting, the Executive Director must ascertain if sitting members of the General Committee who are eligible are seeking reelection.

S2-3.2 Calling for Nominations

At least forty-five days before the date of the next occurring Annual General Meeting the Executive Director must send a nomination form to every Full Member together with a notice (**Election Notice**):

- S2-3.2.1 inviting nominations for election to the General Committee in each of the Membership Groups referred to in **Rule S2-1.1**; and
- S2-3.2.2 advising whether or not any of the sitting members of the General Committee are seeking re-election and, if so, the names of those sitting members.

S2-3.3 Nominations Only for Relevant Membership Group

A Full Member receiving a nomination form may only nominate persons for election to represent the same Membership Group on the General Committee as the Membership Group to which that Full Member belongs.

S2-3.4 Lodging Nominations

Nominations for election to membership of the General Committee must:

- S2-3.4.1 be in writing using the nomination form provided by the Executive Director with the Election Notice; and
- S2-3.4.2 be lodged with the Executive Director no later than fourteen days after the date appearing on the Election Notice.

S2-3.5 Election Where Insufficient Nominations to Hold a Ballot

If the number of nominations received by the Executive Director for a Membership Group is not more than the number of members of the General Committee entitled to be elected for that Membership Group as provided in **Rule S2-1.1**, then the persons nominated will be deemed to have been duly elected as members of the General Committee pursuant to these Rules.

S2-3.6 Election by Ballot

- S2-3.6.1 If the number of nominations received by the Executive Director for a Membership Group exceeds the number of members of the General Committee entitled to be elected to represent that Membership Group as provided in **Rule S2-1.1**, then a ballot must be held to elect the persons to represent that Membership Group (**Ballot**).
- S2-3.6.2 The Executive Director must prepare a Ballot paper:
 - (a) listing in alphabetical order the persons nominated;
 - (b) instructing Full Members entitled to vote to indicate by a cross on the Ballot paper the names of the required number of representatives to fill the number of positions on the General Committee for the relevant Membership Group as provided in Rule S2-1.1;
 - notifying the time and date by which completed Ballot papers must be returned and which must be the date fourteen days after the date on which the Ballot paper will be despatched by the Executive Director (**Ballot Closing Time**); and,
 - (d) notifying the method by which completed Ballot papers must be returned by the Ballot Closing Time.

- S2-3.6.3 The Executive Director must send a Ballot paper to each Full Member entitled to vote in the Ballot.
- S2-3.6.4 Completed Ballot papers must be returned by voting Full Members entitled to vote to reach the Executive Director by the Ballot Closing Time.
- S2-3.6.5 (a) The Executive Director must count all Ballot papers received by or before the Ballot Closing Time from Full Members entitled to vote in the Ballot.
 - (b) Any Ballot paper which is marked so as to indicate either more or less than the required number of representatives instructed on the Ballot paper will be deemed invalid and must not be counted.

S2-3.7 Declaration of Ballot

After the Executive Director has counted the votes on the Ballot papers returned by the Ballot Closing Time, the Executive Director must:

- S2-3.7.1 notify Members of the result of the Ballot; and
- S2-3.7.2 following the notification under **Rule S2-3.7.1**, notify:
 - (a) the General Committee meeting held immediately before the Annual General Meeting; and
 - (b) the Annual General Meeting,

the names of the persons elected as members of the General Committee in the Ballot. The positions on the General Committee of each Relevant Membership Group will be filled by the nominees with the most votes. In the event of a 'tie' where two or more nominees have received an equal number of votes for an unfilled position on the General Committee of each Relevant Membership Group, the Chairman has the casting vote to break the 'tie' in determining which nominee will fill that unfilled position on the General Committee of each Relevant Membership Group.

S2-3.8 Retention of Returned Ballot Papers

Ballot papers returned to the Executive Director must be kept by the Executive Director for at least two months after the declaration of the Ballot under **Rule S2-3.7**.

S2-3.9 Procedure Where Insufficient Elected Representatives for Membership Groups A, B or C

If the Publisher Members in any of Membership Groups A, B or C:

- S2-3.9.1 nominate less than the required number of members of the General Committee for their Membership Group as provided in **Rule S2-1.1**; or
- having nominated a number of persons as candidates for election so as to require a ballot under **Rule S2-3.6**, fail to elect the required number of members of the General Committee for their Membership Group as provided in **Rule S2-1.1**,

the representatives of Publisher Members elected to the General Committee may appoint a representative to fill each vacancy for Membership Groups A, B and C by a simple majority vote, and each person appointed in that manner will hold office until the next Annual General Meeting following their appointment.

S2-4.0 PROCEDURE FOR CONDUCTING A GENERAL COMMITTEE POSTAL BALLOT AND ITS DECLARATION

S2-4.1 Definitions

In this **Rule S2-4.0** unless the context otherwise requires:

Ballot Supervisor means a person who is not:

- (a) a Member;
- (b) a person authorised pursuant to **Rule 18.2.1**;
- (c) a member of the General Committee;
- (d) a member of the Executive Committee;
- (e) the Executive Director; or
- (f) the Audit Inspector.

General Committee Postal Ballot has the meaning defined in Rule 2.1.

General Committee Postal Ballot Closing Time means the time and date by which completed General Committee Postal Ballot papers must be returned to the Executive Director and which must be a date at least fourteen days after the date on which the Statement and the General Committee Postal Ballot paper are despatched by the Executive Director.

Statement means the statement specified in Rule S2-4.2.2.

S2-4.2 Conduct of General Committee Postal Ballot

- S2-4.2.1 In conducting a General Committee Postal Ballot, the Chairman must arrange for the preparation of a Statement and a General Committee Postal Ballot paper.
- S2-4.2.2 A Statement must contain:
 - (a) details of the motion calling for the vote;
 - (b) the wording of the resolution to be put to the vote;
 - (c) a statement of the facts which the Chairman considers to be relevant to the resolution to be put to the vote; and
 - (d) the General Committee Postal Ballot Closing Time.
- S2-4.2.3 The Executive Director must send the Statement and the General Committee Postal Ballot paper to each member of the General Committee.

S2-4.3 Voting by Members of General Committee

- S2-4.3.1 A member of the General Committee may vote for or against a resolution in a General Committee Postal Ballot by duly completing a General Committee Postal Ballot paper and either:
 - (a) posting it so as to reach the Executive Director; or
 - (b) delivering it by hand to the ABC's office,

no later than the General Committee Postal Ballot Closing Time.

S2-4.3.2 If for any reason a General Committee Postal Ballot paper does not reach the Executive Director or is not delivered by hand to the ABC's office by the General Committee Postal Ballot Closing Time that General Committee Postal Ballot paper will not constitute a valid vote

S2-4.4 Appointment of Ballot Supervisor

- S2-4.4.1 The Executive Committee must appoint a Ballot Supervisor to scrutinise and count all votes contained in General Committee Postal Ballot papers received:
 - (a) in accordance with the requirements of **Rule S2-4.3.1**; and
 - (b) on or before the General Committee Postal Ballot Closing Time.
- S2-4.4.2 The Ballot Supervisor:
 - (a) must report to the Executive Committee on the number of votes received for and against the resolution put to the vote by the General Committee Postal Ballot; and
 - (b) must not disclose to any person (unless required by law) the manner in which any Member of the General Committee has voted in respect of a General Committee Postal Ballot.

S2-4.5 Declaration of General Committee Postal Ballot

- S2-4.5.1 The Ballot Supervisor must declare in writing whether a resolution has or has not been carried by a General Committee Postal Ballot and the Executive Committee must arrange for that declaration to be circulated to all members of the General Committee.
- S2-4.5.2 A declaration by the Ballot Supervisor under **Rule S2-4.5.1** that a resolution which is the subject of a General Committee Postal Ballot has been:
 - (a) carried or carried by a particular majority; or
 - (b) not carried or not carried by a particular majority,

will be conclusive evidence of the fact without proof of the number or proportion of the votes recorded in favour of or against the resolution.

S2-5.0 PROCEDURE FOR CONDUCTING A POLL AT A MEETING OF MEMBERS AND ITS DECLARATION

S2-5.1 Conduct of Poll at a Meeting of Members

- S2-5.1.1 If a poll is demanded at a Meeting of Members (**Poll**), each Full Member present in person or by proxy entitled to vote in accordance with these Rules on any resolution will have one vote in respect of each membership of the ABC recorded by the Executive Director in accordance with **Rule 6.5.2** in the name of that Full Member.
- S2-5.1.2 A Poll will be taken in the manner the chairman of the meeting directs.

S2-5.2 Declaration of Poll Taken at a Meeting of Members

- S2-5.2.1 The chairman of the meeting must declare the result of a Poll at the Meeting of Members at which the Poll was taken.
- S2-5.2.2 A declaration by the chairman of the meeting under **Rule S2-5.2.1** that a resolution has been:
 - (a) carried or carried by a particular majority; or
 - (b) not carried or not carried by a particular majority,

will be conclusive evidence of the fact without proof of the number or proportion of the votes recorded in favour of or against the resolution.

SCHEDULE 3

DEFINITIONS AND CALCULATIONS

S3-1.0 DEFINITIONS

In this Schedule 3 unless the context otherwise requires:

Accommodation and Hotel Sale is a sale at a price of a Publication under an Arrangement by or with the publisher of the Publication to a place which provides accommodation on a commercial basis to a person, and which is not that person's usual place of residence, for distribution to that person.

Adjustments means those copies that are not eligible for inclusion in the calculation of Average Net Paid Sales and identified in Total Adjusted Gross Paid Sales as defined in **Rule S3-2.1**.

Advertised Price is the price at which a subscription to a Publication is offered to either:

- (a) the public, or a class of the public, generally;
- (b) an organisation which:
 - (i) arranges for a single copy of the Publication to be distributed to named persons, or their named positions, in that organisation or any other organisation; and
 - (ii) allows the named persons, or the persons in those named positions, the choice to refuse the Publication; or
- (c) a person as a member of an association in circumstances where:
 - (i) the price of the subscription is clearly, separately identified from the membership fee of the association; and
 - (ii) the member can refuse the subscription so as to result in the member not being required to pay the amount identified as the price of the subscription.

Airline Sale is a sale at a price of a Publication under an Arrangement by or with the publisher of the Publication to a company operating in the air travel industry serving passengers within or leaving from Australia for distribution to passengers in planes, terminals, lounges and gates, where for Audit purposes the sales and returns of the Publication are accounted for and documentation concerning those sales and Return Copies is retained and available for inspection by an Auditor.

Arrangement is a financial transaction where there is the payment of money for the sale of copies.

Association Subscription Sale is a sale of a Publication to a person as a member of an association in circumstances where the member receives the Publication either:

- (a) as part of the member's membership fee of the association, or
- (b) at a separately identified price;

and cannot elect to refuse to receive the Publication so as to result in the member receiving a refund of the price of the Publication.

Average Net Paid Sales is the average number of copies of a Publication sold during a Reporting Period calculated in accordance with **S3-2.1**.

Average Other Sales is the average number of Other Sales during a Reporting Period calculated in accordance with **S3-2.2**.

Banded Copies are copies of a Publication which are Out of Date Copies and which are either:

- (a) included in sample bags;
- (b) banded with a current Issue of any Publication; or
- (c) is otherwise made available to a person for a promotional purpose.

Basic Identity is the Masthead, layout and pagination of an Edition of an audited Issue of a Print Publication.

Bundled Sale is a sale at a price of a Publication involving the bundling of the Publication (**Primary Publication**) with other consumer good(s) or service(s) or other publication(s) (**Secondary Publication(s)**) under Arrangement by or with the publisher of the Publication(s) and the supplier of the items making up the Bundled Sale, where:

- a) the offer of the Primary Publication included in the Bundled Sale with the other consumer good(s) or services(s) or Secondary Publication(s) is communicated clearly to the purchaser;
- b) the purchaser has the right to refuse the Primary Publication and is able to purchase the consumer good(s) or service(s) or Secondary Publication(s) separately;
- c) if not a sale with a Secondary Publication:
 - (i) only one copy of the Primary Publication is provided to the purchaser; and
 - (ii) the price of the bundle must exceed the Cover Price of the Primary Publication
- d) if a sale with Secondary Publication(s):
 - (i) only one copy of each of the Primary Publication and the Secondary Publication(s) is provided to the purchaser;
 - (ii) the offer of the Secondary Publication(s) has been communicated clearly to the purchaser;
 - (iii) the combined price of the bundle including the Primary Publication and the Secondary Publication(s) must exceed the Cover Price of the highest priced publication; and
 - (iv) the number of Publications in the Bundled Sale must not exceed five Publications;
- e) the other bundled consumer good(s) or services(s) may not be an Event; and
- f) for Audit purposes, the sales and returns of the Primary and/or Secondary Publication(s) are accounted for and all documentation concerning those sales and Return Copies is retained and available for inspection by an Auditor.

Content is editorial and/or advertorial information and material that appears in an Edition of an audited Issue of a Publication.

Contra Copies are copies of a Publication sold where the consideration for the sale of those copies is other than the payment of money. These cannot be counted in Net Paid Sales.

Cover Price is the price charged for a single copy of a Publication sold to the public and as displayed on the Publication or as advertised to the public.

Cover Price Sale is a sale of a Publication by a Publisher Member at the Cover Price direct to the public.

Dependent Transaction Sale is a sale (not being an Event Sale) at a price of a Publication under an Arrangement by or with the publisher of the Publication (**Secondary Transaction**) which is made as part of another transaction (**Primary Transaction**) where:

- (a) the Primary Transaction is not the sale of a Publication;
- (b) only one copy of the Publication is provided to the purchaser in the Secondary Transaction; and
- (c) for Audit purposes, the sales and returns of the Publication are accounted for and the documentation concerning those sales and returns is retained and available for inspection by an Auditor.

Digital Version is a version of a print Publication accessible or distributable digitally. A Digital Version must be a Replica of its print counterpart. An email newsletter or website does not constitute a Digital Version.

Edition is an edition of an Issue which is different in content to another edition as a result of either:

- (a) the intended time of its sale:
- (b) the intended place of its sale; or
- (c) both (a) and (b).

Enhanced means enriched through digital elements.

Event Sale is a sale at a price of a Publication under Arrangement by or with the publisher of the Publication to an attendee of a paid event as part of the cost of admission, where:

- (a) the offer of the Publication included in the price of admission is communicated clearly to the attendee:
- (b) the attendee has the right to refuse the Publication;
- (c) only one copy of the Publication is provided to the attendee;
- (d) the attendee pays an agreed price for the Publication as part of the admission price for the event; and
- (e) for Audit purposes the sales and returns of the Publication are accounted for and the documentation concerning those sales and Return Event Sale Copies is retained and available for inspection by an Auditor

Gross Paid Sales are copies of a Publication, which are:

- (a) Regular Channel Sales;
- (b) Cover Price Sales;
- (c) Individual Subscription Sales;
- (d) Accommodation and Hotel Sales;
- (e) Airline Sales;
- (f) Bundled Sales:
- (g) School Sales; or
- (h) Tertiary Education Subscription Sales.

Individual Subscription Sale is a sale by way of a subscription for a term to a Publication which is offered to a person at the Advertised Price and accepted by that person at that price.

Modified Domestic Copies are copies of an Issue:

- (a) which do not contain all advertisements booked to appear for the entire run of the Issue in Australia; or
- (b) which do not contain all advertisements booked to appear only in a particular Edition of the Issue in Australia; or
- (c) both (a) and (b).

Modified Overseas Copies are copies of an Edition sold outside Australia which do not contain all advertisements booked to appear (except in cases where an advertiser requests removal of its advertisement) in that Edition's Issue sold in Australia.

Net Paid Sales are the sales of copies of a Publication calculated in accordance with Rule S-3.2.1.

Other Sales are:

- (a) Association Subscription Sales;
- (b) Dependent Transaction Sales; and
- (c) any sale of a Publication which is not otherwise a Net Paid Sale,

but excluding:

- (d) Return Copies;
- (e) Contra Copies;
- (f) Out of Date Copies;
- (g) Banded Copies;
- (h) Modified Domestic Copies; and
- (i) Modified Overseas Copies.

Out of Date Copies are copies of Issues which go off sale or out of date after a new Issue is distributed in the same Reporting Period.

Regular Channel Sale is a sale through retailers, wholesale distributors, sellers and other channels of distribution or sale who pay a Wholesale Price for the Publication.

Replica: A Digital Version is a Replica of a print Publication if:

- (a) the Digital Version has the same Basic Identity as an Edition of the audited Issue of the print Publication;
- (b) the Digital Version has the same Content as an Edition of the audited Issue of the print Publication;
- (c) the Digital Version includes all authorised ROP (Run of Paper/Book) advertisers, including classifieds, as are in an Edition of the audited Issue of the print Publication;
- (d) the same advertiser appears in both an Edition of the audited Issue of the print Publication and the Digital Version in the same position on the same pages;
- (e) the Digital Version is published on or about the distribution date of its print counterpart; and
- (f) the Digital Version carries a masthead incorporating the generic name of its print counterpart and is consistent with the general appearance of its print counterpart.
 - Notwithstanding (a) to (f) above:
- (g) the Content of an Edition of the audited Issue of the print Publication can be Enhanced in the Digital Version;
- (h) the Advertising of an Edition of the audited Issue of the print Publication can be Enhanced in the Digital Version;
- (i) the Content of an Edition of the audited Issue of the print Publication can be removed for reasons outside the publisher's control on application to the ABC (for example, international publishing laws/legal issues) in the Digital Version;
- (j) the Content of an Edition of the audited Issue of the print Publication can be Updated in a subsequent Digital Version of that Edition.

Return Copies are copies of a Publication which are:

- (a) either returned to the publisher of the Publication or destroyed after the provision of documentation to the publisher substantiating the number of copies destroyed for any of the following reasons:
 - (i) the copies are unsold
 - (ii) the copies are uncollected; and/or
 - (iii) the copies are undeliverable
- (b) and are not Return Event Sale Copies

Return Event Sale Copies are uncollected or refused Event Sale copies.

School sale is a sale at a price of a Publication under an Arrangement between a school or third party and the publisher of the Publication for use by students of the school.

Tertiary Education Subscription Sale is a sale at a price of a Publication under an Arrangement between a tertiary learning institution or Third Party and the publisher of the Publication for collection by each student who has subscribed where:

- a) only a single copy of each issue of the Publication is provided to the student who has subscribed;
- b) all copies sold for collection by students at a tertiary learning institution are reported in the tertiary education category;
- c) for Audit purposes for Print Versions, the sales and returns of the Publication are accounted for and the documentation concerning those sales and Return Copies is retained and available for inspection by an Auditor.

Third Party is any intermediary, person or organisation that is not the publisher or the recipient of the Publication(s).

Updated means a change to the Content.

Voucher Copies are copies of a Publication which are used for checking advertisements by:

- (a) the publisher of the Publication; or
- (b) advertising agencies, advertisers or their agents,

or which are provided free for use for similar purposes.

Wholesale Price is a price for a Publication charged by a Publisher to retailers, wholesale distributors, sellers and other regular channels of distribution or sale.

S3-2.0 AVERAGE NET PAID SALES AND AVERAGE OTHER SALES

S3-2.1 Calculation of Average Net Paid Sales

Average Net Paid Sales must be calculated as follows:

- S3-2.1.1 Add the total number of copies comprising Gross Paid Sales of each Issue made in the Reporting Period (**Total Gross Paid Sales**).
- S3-2.1.2 From Total Gross Paid Sales;
 - (a) Adjust for the number (if any) of copies comprising the difference between the estimated number of Return Copies of the previous Reporting Period and the actual number of Return Copies of the same Reporting Period.
 - (b) Then, deduct the number (if any) of copies which are any of the following and which are included in Total Gross Paid Sales:
 - (i) Return Copies;
 - (ii) Contra Copies;
 - (iii) Out of Date Copies;
 - (iv) Banded Copies;
 - (v) Modified Domestic Copies; and
 - (vi) Modified Overseas Copies.

(Total Adjusted Gross Paid Sales).

- S3-2.1.3 Determine the number of Total Adjusted Gross Paid Sales in Australia and add to that number the number of Event Sales in Australia up to a maximum of 2% of the Total Adjusted Gross Paid Sales in Australia, to obtain the number for Net Paid Sales in Australia.
- S3-2.1.4 Divide the number of Net Paid Sales in Australia by the number of Issues during the Reporting Period to obtain the number for Average Net Paid Sales in Australia.
- S3-2.1.5 Determine the number of Total Adjusted Gross Paid Sales for each of:
 - (a) New Zealand; and
 - (b) countries other than Australia and New Zealand,

which will be the numbers for, respectively:

- (c) Net Paid Sales in New Zealand; and
- (d) Net Paid Sales in countries other than Australia and New Zealand.
- S3-2.1.6 Divide each of the numbers for Net Paid Sales in New Zealand and Net Paid Sales in other countries by the number of Issues during the Reporting Period to obtain the numbers for, respectively:
 - (a) Average Net Paid Sales in New Zealand; and
 - (b) Average Net Paid Sales in countries other than Australia and New Zealand.

S3-2.2 Calculation of Average Other Sales in Australia

If a Publisher Member elects to show in a Reporting Statement the number for Average Other Sales in Australia pursuant to **Rule S5-5.3**, Average Other Sales in Australia must be calculated as follows:

- S3-2.2.1 Divide the number of Other Sales in Australia by the number of Issues during the Reporting Period to obtain the number for Average Other Sales in Australia.
- **S3-2.3** All sales for a Publication must be reported in accordance with **Schedule 5**.

S3-2.4 Calculation of Day of Week Average Net Paid Sales in Australia

S3-2.4.1 Day of Week Reporting will be calculated using the same process delineated in S3-2.1 (S3-2.1.1 to S3-2.1.4) with the algorithm being applied separately to the Total Gross Paid Sales for each day of the week, resulting in a separate Average Net Paid Sales figure for each day of the week.

SCHEDULE 5

REPORTING

S5-1.0 REPORTING STATEMENTS

S5-1.1 Types of Reporting Statements

- S5-1.1.1 A Publisher Member is required to submit data for its Publication(s) in accordance with these Rules and Audit Guidelines in the form of:
 - (a) ABC Publisher Report; and/or
 - (b) ABC Audit Report,

as required by these Rules.

S5-1.1.2 A Publisher Member may also submit additional data for its Publication(s) in accordance with these Rules and Audit Guidelines in the form of an ABC Voluntary Report.

S5-1.2 Form and Content Determined by Executive Committee

The Executive Committee from time to time may determine in writing:

- S5-1.2.1 the form or forms in which Reporting Statements are to be submitted to the ABC; and
- S5-1.2.2 the information to be contained in Reporting Statements and the procedures to be adopted in preparing them.

S5-1.3 Determinations Consistent with Rules

All determinations of the Executive Committee under **Rule S5-1.2** must be consistent with these Rules.

S5-1.4 Preparation of Reporting Statements and Calculation of Sales or Distribution

A Publisher Member must ensure that each Reporting Statement for its Publications:

- S5-1.4.1 only contains sales data (or in the case of a Newspaper Inserted Magazine, distribution data) which has been:
 - (a) calculated in accordance; and
 - (b) otherwise complies,

with the requirements of Schedule 3; and

S5-1.4.2 has been prepared in accordance with the provisions of **Schedule 3** and **Schedule 5**.

S5-1.5 ABC May Request Amendment of Reporting Statement

If the ABC considers that a Reporting Statement (or its content) lodged by a Publisher Member does not comply with these Rules (or the Audit Guidelines if applicable):

- S5-1.5.1 the ABC may return the Reporting Statement to the Publisher Member with a written request for amendment; and
- S5-1.5.2 the Publisher Member must:
 - (a) amend the Reporting Statement as requested by the ABC; and
 - (b) return the amended Reporting Statement to the ABC,

not more than seven days after the date on which the Publisher receives the ABC's written request under **Rule S5-1.5.1**.

S5-1.6 No Acceptance of Reporting Statement if Moneys Owed

The ABC is not obliged to:

- S5-1.6.1 accept a Reporting Statement from; or
- S5-1.6.2 include in a Circulation Summary the content of a Reporting Statement it has accepted from a Publisher Member if any subscription, levy or fee imposed on that Publisher Member in accordance with these Rules has not been paid within the time required by Rule 7.2.2.
- **S5-1.7** All sales for a Publication must be calculated in accordance with **Schedule 3**.

S5-2.0 MANDATORY REPORTING PERIODS AND TYPES OF REPORTS

S5-2.1 Reporting Periods

The Reporting Periods for the purposes of these Rules are:

- S5-2.1.1 For Publisher Members publishing:
 - (a) National Newspapers;
 - (b) Metropolitan Monday Friday Daily Newspapers;
 - (c) Metropolitan Saturday Newspapers;
 - (d) Metropolitan Sunday Newspapers;
 - (e) Regional Daily Newspapers with an Average Issue Circulation of 25,000 copies or more;
 - (f) Regional Sunday Newspapers with an Average Issue Circulation of 25,000 copies or more:
 - (g) Country Press with an Average Issue Circulation of 25,000 copies or more;
 - (h) Newspaper Inserted Magazines provided with a newspaper nominated in **Rules S5-2.1.1(a) to (g)**; or
 - (i) Weekly Magazines with an Average Issue Circulation of 25,000 copies or more,

the periods are:

- (j) 1 January to 31 March;
- (k) 1 April to 30 June;
- (I) 1 July to 30 September; and
- (m) 1 October to 31 December,

all periods including their start and finish dates, or

(n) thirteen weeks in each period of three months nearest the periods in Rules S5-2.1.1(j), (k) (l) and (m),

and where necessary to accommodate accumulated odd days a period may cover fourteen weeks.

- S5-2.1.2 For Publisher Members publishing magazines (not being Weekly Magazines) with an Average Issue Circulation of 25,000 copies or more, the periods are:
 - (a) 1 January to 30 June; and
 - (b) 1 July to 31 December,

both periods including their start and finish dates, or

(c) twenty-six weeks in each period of six months nearest the periods in **Rules S5-2.1.2(a)** and (b),

and where necessary to accommodate accumulated odd days a period may cover twenty-seven weeks.

- S5-2.1.3 For Publisher Members publishing:
 - (a) Regional Daily Newspapers with an Average Issue Circulation less than 25,000 copies;
 - (b) Regional Sunday Newspapers with an Average Issue Circulation less than 25,000 copies;
 - (c) Country Press with an Average Issue Circulation less than 25,000 copies;
 - (d) Newspaper Inserted Magazines provided with a newspaper nominated in **Rules S5-2.1.3(a)**, **(b)** or **(c)**; and
 - (e) any magazine with an Average Issue Circulation less than 25,000 copies;

the periods are:

(f) 1 January to 30 June; and

(g) 1 July to 31 December,

both periods including their start and finish dates, or

(h) twenty-six weeks in one period of six months nearest either of the periods in Rules S5-2.1.3(f) and (g),

and where necessary to accommodate accumulated odd days a period may cover twentyseven weeks.

S5-2.2 Reports relating to Mandatory Reporting

- S5-2.2.1 ABC Audit Reports must be submitted for Publisher Members required to report under:
 - (a) **Rule S5-2.1.1**; or
 - (b) **Rule S5-2.1.2**
- S5-2.2.2 Publisher members required to report under **Rule S5-2.1.3** must submit:
 - (a) one ABC Audit Report and one ABC Publisher Report; or two ABC Audit Reports per calendar year; or
 - (b) may elect to submit ABC Audit Reports for the periods defined in **Rule S5-2.1.1**.

S5-3.0 MANDATORY DATA REPORTING REQUIREMENTS

- **S5-3.1** For every Reporting Period defined under **Rule S5-2.1** a Reporting Statement must be prepared and show:
- S5-3.1.1 the number for Average Net Paid Sales in Australia; and
- S5-3.1.2 as separate categories, the number of Average Net Paid Sales in Australia, which compromise each of the following:
 - (a) Accommodation and Hotel Sales;
 - (b) Airline Sales;
 - (c) Bundled Sales;
 - (d) Event Sales;
 - (e) School Sales; and
 - (f) Tertiary Education Subscription Sales.
- S5-3.1.3 Publications which are any of:
 - (a) National Newspapers;
 - (b) Metropolitan Monday-Friday Daily Newspapers;
 - (c) Metropolitan Saturday Newspapers;
 - (d) Metropolitan Sunday Newspapers; or
 - (e) Regional Daily Newspapers;

must report separately Average Net Paid Sales for:

- (i) Monday-Friday;
- (ii) Saturday; (where applicable) and
- (iii) Sunday (where applicable)

S5-3.2 Day of Week Reporting

- S5-3.2.1 Publications which are:
 - (a) National Newspapers;
 - (b) Metropolitan Monday-Friday Daily Newspapers; or
 - (c) Regional Daily Newspapers with an Average Issue Circulation of 25,000 copies or more:

must report Average Issue Net Paid Sales, without the requirement of separate category reporting under **Rule S5-3.1.2** for each of:

- (i) Monday;
- (ii) Tuesday;

- (iii) Wednesday;
- (iv) Thursday;
- (v) Friday;
- (vi) Saturday (where applicable)
- S5-3.2.2 Regional Daily Newspapers with an Average Issue Circulation less than 25,000 copies may elect to report under **Rule S5-3.2.1**.

S5-3.3 Transitional Provision Concerning Day of Week Reporting

S5-3.3.1 Publishers may elect not to report Day of Week Reporting under **Rule S5-3.2** until the Reporting Period commencing 1 January 2012.

S5-3.4 Reporting Statement May Show Separately Average Other Sales in Australia

A Reporting Statement may show the number of Average Other Sales in Australia separate from the number of Average Net Paid Sales in Australia.

S5-3.5 Reporting Statement Must Show Separately Average Net Paid Sales Outside Australia

A Reporting Statement must show each of the numbers for:

- S5-3.5.1 Average Net Paid Sales in New Zealand; and
- S5-3.5.2 Average Net Paid Sales in countries other than Australia and New Zealand, separate from any other number in the Reporting Statement.

S5-3.6 Reporting Statement May Show Explanation of Modified Overseas Copies.

A Publisher member of the ABC may show the number of Modified Overseas Copies referred to in **Rule S3-2.1.2 (b) (vi)** which will be explained in the paragraph in a Reporting Statement set aside for general explanations.

S5-3.7 Publication May Show Lower Figures

S5-3.7.1 A Publication may submit and show a lower than actual figure for Average Net Paid Sales (as defined in **Schedule 3**) for a Reporting Period and which will be reported with an annotation (in a format to be determined by the Executive Committee).

S5-3.8 Voucher Copies

Voucher Copies must not be included in any number in a Reporting Statement.

S5-3.9 Publication Subscriptions In Arrears

An individual continuous subscription to a Publication which:

- (a) being a Regional Daily Newspaper or a Country Press, is more than six months in arrears; or
- (b) being any other type of Publication, is more than four months in arrears,

must not be included in the calculation of any class of Net Paid Sales under Rule S3-2.1.

S5-3.10 Newspaper Inserted Magazines

The provisions of these Rules concerning the calculation of the numbers of Average Net Paid Sales of a Publication (and their classes and categories) and Average Other Sales in Australia allowed to be shown in a Reporting Statement apply, with the necessary changes being made, to the calculation of the respective numbers for the average distribution of Newspaper Inserted Magazines allowed to be shown in a Reporting Statement prepared for that purpose.

S5-4.0 DIGITAL VERSIONS

S5-4.1 The provisions of these Rules concerning the calculation of the number of Average Net Paid Sales of a Publication (and their classes and categories) in Australia allowed to be shown in a Reporting Statement apply, with the necessary changes being made, to the calculation of sales of a Digital Version allowed to be shown in a Reporting Statement.

S5-5.0 REPORTING PERIODS FOR VOLUNTARY REPORTING

The Reporting Periods for voluntary reporting (**Voluntary Reporting**) for the purposes of these Rules are as determined by the Executive Committee from time to time.

S5-6.0 VOLUNTARY REPORTING REQUIREMENTS

S5-6.1 Voluntary Reporting Accepted by ABC

The ABC will accept ABC Voluntary Reports from a Publisher Member in respect of a Publication relating to:

- (a) specific additional data;
- (b) specific Issue reporting
- (c) frequency of reporting of Average Net Paid Sales;

S5-6.2 Publisher Members May Elect to Report Additional Data

- S5-6.2.1 Publisher Members may elect to report specific additional data **(Voluntary Reporting)** for a Publication in the form of separate reporting of Individual Subscription Sales.
- S5-6.2.2 Additional data reported by a Publisher Member for a Publication will be:
 - (a) submitted as an ABC Voluntary Report;
 - (b) reported in the form determined by the Executive Committee and in accordance with these Rules and Audit Guidelines.
 - (c) must be provided with auditor's verification or must make available to the ABC relevant print, subscriber and delivery documentation.

S5-6.3 Publisher Members May Elect to Report Specific Issue Data

- S5-6.3.1 Publisher Members may elect to report specific Issue data **(Voluntary Reporting)** for a Publication in the form of:
 - (a) Specific Issue Circulation for any Publication (provided without the requirement of separate category reporting under **Rule S5-3.1.2**)
- S5-6.3.2 Specific Issue data reported by a Publisher Member for a Publication will be:
 - (a) submitted as an ABC Voluntary Report;
 - (b) reported in the form determined by the Executive Committee and in accordance with these Rules and Audit Guidelines;
 - (c) must have accounted for Return Copies from at least 75% of that Issues distribution; and
 - (d) must be provided with auditor's verification or must make available to the ABC relevant print, sales and delivery documentation.

S5-6.4 Publisher Members May Elect to Increase Frequency of Reporting of Average Net Paid Sales

- S5-6.4.1 Publisher Members may elect to provide ABC Voluntary Reports for a Publication on a greater frequency than as required by these Rules.
- S5-6.4.2 ABC Voluntary Reports by a Publisher Member for a Publication must:
 - (a) be submitted as an ABC Voluntary Report;
 - (b) be reported in the form determined by the Executive Committee and in accordance with these Rules and Audit Guidelines;
 - (c) fall within an established Reporting Period; and
 - (d) be for a minimum of 12 continuous months.

S5-6.5 Cessation of Voluntary Reporting

S5-6.5.1 If a Publisher Member elects to cease Voluntary Reporting they can only do so at the end of a Reporting Period.

S5-6.6 Updating ABC Voluntary Report Data

S5-6.6.1 Data submitted as an ABC Voluntary Report can be updated where there has been a variation between an estimate made at the time of data release and subsequent actual sales data being finalised.

S5-6.7 All Voluntary Reporting Data is Subject to Audit Inspection

S5-6.7.1 All data submitted as an ABC Voluntary Report may be subject to an Inspection Audit in accordance with Part 5.

S5-6.8 Application to submit an ABC Voluntary Report

- S5-6.8.1. Any Publisher member wishing to submit an ABC Voluntary Report must apply in writing to the Executive Committee for approval, specifying:
 - (a) the type of additional data to be provided; and
 - (b) the nominated frequency of reporting.

All ABC Voluntary Reports must be submitted in accordance with **Rule S5-6.2**, **Rule S5-6.3** and **Rule S5-6.4**.

- S5-6.8.2 The Executive Committee may accept or refuse an application from a Publisher Member applying for Voluntary Reporting and will advise the Publisher Member of the acceptance or refusal of the application.
- S5-6.8.3 If the application is accepted, the Executive Committee will notify the Publisher Member in writing of:
 - (a) the data to be submitted; and
 - (b) the frequency of reporting.

SCHEDULE 6

REPORTING STATEMENTS – QUERIES AND CHALLENGES

S6-1.0 RULE 35.0 - QUERY CONCERNING MEMBER'S COMPLIANCE WITH RULES

S6-1.1 Lodging a Query

If a Member (**Enquirer**) wishes to make a query about a Member's compliance with these Rules or the Audit Guidelines, the Member must lodge with the ABC a notice in writing, in the form determined by the Executive Committee from time to time, providing details of the query (**Query**).

S6-1.2 Audit Inspector to Consider Query

The Audit Inspector must consider the Query and provide his findings to the Executive Committee.

S6-1.3 Determination of Executive Committee

- S6-1.3.1 If the Executive Committee determines that the Query does not contain any contravention of these Rules or the Audit Guidelines, the Executive Committee must advise the Enquirer in writing of that determination.
- S6-1.3.2 If the Executive Committee determines that the Query indicates that there has been or may have been a contravention of these Rules or the Audit Guidelines, the Audit Inspector must provide a copy of the Query:
 - (a) to each Publisher Member and Auditor referred to in the Query; or
 - (b) if there is no Publisher Member or Auditor referred to in the Query, to each Publisher Member and Auditor which the Executive Committee determines may be affected by the Query.

S6-1.4 Response to Query

Each Publisher Member and Auditor which receives a copy of a Query under **Rule S6-1.3** must provide to the Audit Inspector a response in writing to the Query within the time advised by the Audit Inspector.

S6-1.5 Audit Inspector to Consider Response

The Audit Inspector must consider the Query and each response received under **Rule S6-1.4**, and provide his findings and recommendations (if any) to the Executive Committee, which may include a recommendation for an Inspection Audit.

S6-1.6 Decision of Executive Committee

- S6-1.6.1 If the Executive Committee decides that the Query does not in fact disclose to the Executive Committee's satisfaction any contravention of these Rules or the Audit Guidelines, the Executive Committee must advise the Enquirer in writing of that decision.
- S6-1.6.2 If the Executive Committee decides that the Query in fact shows to the Executive Committee's satisfaction that there has been contravention of these Rules or the Audit Guidelines, the Executive Committee must:
 - (a) decide whether any sanction will apply and against whom as a result of that contravention and in accordance with the Executive Committee's authority under these Rules;
 - (b) advise:
 - (i) the Enquirer; and
 - (ii) all Publisher Members and Auditors which were provided a copy of the Query under **Rule S6-1.3.2**,
 - in writing of the Executive Committee's decision and the sanction (if any) imposed and against whom; and
 - (c) advise all Members of the Query, the Executive Committee's decision in respect of the Query, and the sanction (if any) imposed and against whom.

S6-2.0 RULE 36.0 – CHALLENGE CONCERNING REPORTING STATEMENT

S6-2.1 Lodging a Challenge

If a Member wishes to challenge the content of a Reporting Statement or, where a Reporting Statement is an ABC Audit Report, the content of an ABC Audit Report:

- S6-2.1.1 The Member (**Challenger**) must lodge with the ABC a notice in writing, in the form determined by the Executive Committee from time to time, providing full details of:
 - (a) the nature of the challenge (**Challenge**);
 - (b) the reasons for the Challenge; and
 - (c) the evidence which the Challenger has to support the reasons for the Challenge, (**Challenge Notice**).
- S6-2.1.2 The ABC must provide a copy of the Challenge Notice to:
 - (a) the Publisher Member whose Reporting Statement is being challenged; and
 - (b) where the Challenge Notice relates to an ABC Audit Report, the Auditor of that ABC Audit Report.

S6-2.2 Response to a Challenge

The Publisher Member and, if applicable, the Auditor referred to in **Rule S6-2.1.2** must provide to the Executive Committee a response in writing to the matters raised in the Challenge Notice within the time advised by the Executive Committee.

S6-2.3 Audit Inspector to Consider Response

The Audit Inspector must review the matters raised in the Challenge Notice and each response received under **Rule S6-2.2** and provide his findings and recommendations (if any) in respect of the Challenge to the Executive Committee, which may include a recommendation for an Inspection Audit.

S6-2.4 Report on Inspection Audit

If the Executive Committee accepts a recommendation by the Audit Inspector under **Rule S6-2.3** for an Inspection Audit, the Audit Inspector must:

- S6-2.4.1 arrange for the Inspection Audit to be undertaken; and
- S6-2.4.2 provide a report to the Executive Committee on the findings of the Inspection Audit.

S6-2.5 Executive Committee to Determine Whether Review Audit Required

- S6-2.5.1 The Executive Committee must consider:
 - (a) the matters raised in the Challenge Notice;
 - (b) the responses received under **Rule S6-2.2**;
 - (c) the Audit Inspector's findings and recommendations (if any) under **Rule S6-2.3**: and
 - (d) where there has been an Inspection Audit under **Rule S6-2.4**, the Audit Inspector's report to the Executive Committee on the findings of the Inspection Audit.
- S6-2.5.2 When the Executive Committee has concluded its consideration under **Rule S6-2.5.1**, the Executive Committee must determine whether a Review Audit is required.

S6-2.6 Decision Where No Review Audit Required

- S6-2.6.1 If the Executive Committee determines under **Rule S6-2.5** that a Review Audit is not required, the Executive Committee must make its decision in respect of the Challenge.
- S6-2.6.2 If the Executive Committee decides that the matters it has considered under **Rule S6-2.5** in respect of the Challenge do not show to the Executive Committee's satisfaction that there has been a contravention of these Rules or the Audit Guidelines, the Executive Committee must advise:
 - (a) the Challenger; and
 - (b) the Publisher Member and Auditor (if any) who received a copy of the Challenge Notice under **Rule S6-2.1.2**,

in writing of that decision.

- S6-2.6.3 If the Executive Committee decides that the matters it has considered under **Rule S6-2.5** in respect of the Challenge show to the Executive Committee's satisfaction that there has been a contravention of these Rules or the Audit Guidelines, the Executive Committee must:
 - (a) determine whether any sanction will apply and against whom as a result of that contravention and in accordance with the Executive Committee's authority under these Rules;
 - (b) advise:
 - (i) the Challenger; and
 - (ii) the Publisher Member and Auditor (if any) who received a copy of the Challenge Notice under **Rule S6-2.1.2**,

in writing of the Executive Committee's decision in respect of the Challenge, and the sanction (if any) imposed and against whom; and

(c) advise all Members of the Challenge, the Executive Committee's decision in respect of the Challenge, and the sanction (if any) imposed and against whom.

S6-2.7 Challenger Must Lodge Amount Where Review Audit Required

If the Executive Committee determines under **Rule S6-2.5** that a Review Audit is required, the Challenger must lodge with the ABC an amount estimated by the Audit Inspector to be sufficient to meet the cost of the Review Audit.

S6-2.8 Action After Review Audit

- S6-2.8.1 On the conclusion of the Review Audit under **Rule S6-2.7**, the Executive Committee must decide whether the result of that Review Audit shows to the Executive Committee's satisfaction that there has been a contravention of these Rules or the Audit Guidelines.
- S6-2.8.2 If the Executive Committee decides that the result of the Review Audit does not show to the Executive Committee's satisfaction that there has been a contravention of these Rules or the Audit Guidelines:
 - (a) the Executive Committee must advise:
 - (i) the Challenger; and
 - (ii) the Publisher Member and Auditor (if any) who received a copy of the Challenge Notice under **Rule S6-2.1.2**,

in writing of that decision; or

- (b) the Challenger must pay the full cost of the Review Audit, as certified by the Audit Inspector, and if the amount of that full cost:
 - (i) is less than the amount lodged by the Challenger under **Rule S6-2.7**, then the amount of the excess must be refunded to the Challenger by the ABC; and
 - (ii) exceeds the amount lodged by the Challenger under **Rule S6-2.7**, then the amount of the shortfall is a debt due and immediately payable by the Challenger to the ABC.
- S6-2.8.3 If the Executive Committee decides that the result of the Review Audit shows to the Executive Committee's satisfaction that there has been contravention of these Rules or the Audit Guidelines, the Executive Committee must:
 - (a) determine whether any sanction will apply and against whom as a result of that contravention and in accordance with the Executive Committee's authority under these Rules;
 - (b) advise:
 - (i) the Challenger; and
 - (ii) the Publisher Member and Auditor (if any) who received a copy of the Challenge Notice under **Rule S6-2.1.2**,

in writing of the result of the Review Audit, Executive Committee's decision in respect of the Challenge, and the sanction (if any) imposed and against whom;

- (c) advise all Members of the Challenge, the result of the Review Audit, the Executive Committee's decision in respect of the Challenge, and the sanction (if any) imposed and against whom; and
- (d) who will bear the full costs of the Review Audit, as certified by the Audit Inspector, and, if more than one person, in what proportions.
- S6-2.8.4 After the Executive Committee has made its decision concerning costs of the Review Audit under **Rule S6-2.8.3(d)**, the Audit Inspector must advise the relevant parties of the Executive Committee's decision and:
 - (a) any amount payable to the ABC by a Member in respect of the costs of the Review Audit is a debt due and immediately payable by that member to the ABC; and
 - (b) any amount owing to the Challenger in respect of the amount lodged by the Challenger under **Rule S6-2.7** must be refunded immediately to the Challenger by the ABC.

SCHEDULE 7

AMENDMENTS TO RULES

S7-1.0 DEFINITIONS

In this Schedule 5 unless the context otherwise requires:

Amendment Proposal has the meaning defined in Rule 40.1.

Ballot Supervisor means a person who is not:

- (a) a Member;
- (b) a person authorised pursuant to **Rule 18.2.1**;
- (c) a member of the General Committee;
- (d) a member of the Executive Committee;
- (e) the Executive Director; or
- (f) the Audit Inspector.

Notice means the notice specified in Rule \$7-2.1.2.

Rule Amendment Ballot means a ballot of Full Members in relation to an Amendment Proposal.

Rule Amendment Ballot Closing Time means the time and date by which completed Rule Amendment Ballot papers must be returned to the Executive Director and which must be a date at least fourteen days after the date on which the Notice and Rule Amendment Ballot paper are despatched by the Executive Director.

S7-2.0 PROCEDURE FOR CONDUCTING A BALLOT OF FULL MEMBERS AND ITS DECLARATION

S7-2.1 Conduct of Ballot of Full Members

- S7-2.1.1 In conducting a Rule Amendment Ballot, the Executive Director must prepare a Notice and a Rule Amendment Ballot paper.
- S7-2.1.2 A Notice must contain, as a minimum:
 - (a) the Amendment Proposal;
 - (b) a copy of any:
 - (i) further information received pursuant to **Rule 40.3.2(a)**; and
 - (ii) written advice received pursuant to **Rule 40.3.2(b)**;
 - (c) the wording of the resolution to put the Amendment Proposal to the vote;
 - (d) a statement of the facts which the Chairman considers to be relevant to the Amendment Proposal;
 - (e) the Rule Amendment Ballot Closing Time; and
 - (f) the date determined by the Executive Committee on which the Amendment Proposal, if passed, will come into effect pursuant to **Rule 40.7.2**.
- S7-2.1.3 The Executive Director must send the Notice and the Rule Amendment Ballot paper to each Full Member entitled to vote in the Rule Amendment Ballot.

S7-2.2 Voting by Full Members

- S7-2.2.1 A Full Member entitled to vote in a Rule Amendment Ballot may vote for or against an Amendment Proposal by duly completing a Rule Amendment Ballot paper and either:
 - (a) posting it so as to reach the Executive Director; or
 - (b) delivering it by hand to the ABC's office,

no later than the Rule Amendment Ballot Closing Time.

- S7-2.2.2 If for any reason a Rule Amendment Ballot paper does not reach the Executive Director or is not delivered by hand to the ABC's office by the Rule Amendment Ballot Closing Time that Rule Amendment Ballot paper will not constitute a valid vote.
- S7-2.2.3 In a Rule Amendment Ballot, each Full Member has one vote in respect of each Publication in respect of which that Full Member is a Member.

S7-2.3 Appointment of Ballot Supervisor

- S7-2.3.1 The Executive Committee must appoint a Ballot Supervisor to scrutinise and count all votes contained in Rule Amendment Ballot papers received:
 - (a) in accordance with the requirements of Rule S7-2.2.1; and
 - (b) on or before the Rule Amendment Ballot Closing Time.
- S7-2.3.2 The Ballot Supervisor:
 - (a) must report to the Executive Committee on the number of votes received for and against the Amendment Proposal; and
 - (b) must not disclose to any person (unless required by law) the manner in which any Full Member has voted in respect of an Amendment Proposal.

S7-2.4 Declaration of Ballot

- S7-2.4.1 The Ballot Supervisor must declare in writing whether an Amendment Proposal has or has not been passed as a result of a Rule Amendment Ballot and the Executive Committee must arrange for that declaration to be circulated to all Members.
- S7-2.4.2 A declaration by the Ballot Supervisor under **Rule S7-2.4.1** that an Amendment Proposal has or has not been passed as a result of a Rule Amendment Ballot is conclusive evidence of that fact without proof of the number of votes cast for and against the Amendment Proposal.



Part 1- Page 1 – General

This part defines who the ABC is, the Objects that direct the actions of the ABC and contains a list of the primary definitions utilised throughout the rule book.

Additional definitions are located in other sections such as Schedule 3 which defines the inclusions and calculation of Average Net Paid Sales.

The following definitions have been updated:

Audit Report

Audit Periods (Rule number changes)

Average Issue Circulation

Circulation Summary (changed reference from Part 7 to Part 6)

The following new definitions have been inserted

ABC Mandatory Report

ABC Publisher Report (replaces Publisher's Statement)

ABC Voluntary Report

Reporting Statement (replaces Circulation Statement)

Specific Issue Circulation

Reporting Periods (replaces Statement Periods)

The following definitions have been deleted.

Publisher's Statement

Circulation Statement

Reporting Period (old definition, has been superceded)

Statement periods (replaced with Reporting Periods)



Part 2 - Page 7 - Membership

This part contains all of the rules connected with membership – the member categories, applying for membership, obligations of membership, subscriptions, resignations, terminations.

Changes

Amendment to Rule 7.2

Removing the requirement for subscriptions, levies and fines to be approved at an AGM.

Update the rules that determine how Subscriptions, Levies and Fines are approved to improve ABC ability to respond to changing market forces.

Background

Currently ABC's rules require that ABC's annual subscription and any levy amounts be decided and approved at either an AGM or Special General Meeting. This has meant that ABC must set membership subscription fees more than 18 months in advance of implementation.

This amendment allows for fees to be determined by agreement of the Executive and General Committees enabling the process to be more dynamic and responsive to the changing marketplace and removing the requirement for approval at the AGM.

The current rules:

Part 2 – Memberships

- 7.2 Subscriptions, Levies, Fees and Fines
- 7.2.1 A Member must pay each annual subscription or other levy as may be decided and approved by either:
- (a) an Annual General Meeting; or
- (b) a Special General Meeting convened for that purpose and for which:
- (i) at least twenty-eight days' notice in writing is given to Members; and
- (ii) the notice of meeting specifies the amount of the subscription or levy to be considered by the meeting.

Proposed Amendment to Rule 7.2.1:

Part 2 – Memberships

- 7.2 Subscriptions, Levies, Fees and Fines
- 7.2.1 A Member must pay each annual subscription or other levy as may be determined from time to time by the Executive Committee and approved by two-thirds majority of the General Committee.

Other changes in this Part will relate to the new names for ABC Audit Report and ABC Publisher Report and updates to rule or schedule references.



Part 3 – Page 12 – Committees, Officers and Meetings

This Part contains the governance rules for the ABC, including the control and management of the ABC through its General and Executive Committees, Officers and the appointment of the Executive Director or CEO. This part also includes the rules governing the AGM.

Changes

Amendment to Rule 16.3

Removing the requirement for the Annual Report to be issued with the notice convening the AGM. Or Amending the timing for the delivery of the Annual Report.

Background

Every year the ABC issues an Annual Report that details the statement of revenue and expenditure and the balance sheet along with the proceedings of the ABC for the previous Financial Year. Currently ABC's Rules require that the Annual Report must be issued with the notice that convenes the Annual General Meeting and that this notice must be sent to members at least twenty-eight days before the date of the meeting.

This forced deadline has incurred additional expense by ABC's Financial Auditors to generate completed and audited final accounts by the end of July each year.

The proposed amendment removes the requirement for the Annual Report to be issued with the notice convening the meeting, however ensuring the Report is sent to members a minimum of 21 working days before the Annual General Meeting, which is in line with current corporate best practice.

The current rules:

Part 3 – Committees, Officers and Meetings

16.3 Business of Annual General Meeting

The business of an Annual General Meeting is to:

- 16.3.1 receive and consider the statement of revenue and expenditure and the balance sheet of the ABC, for the approval of Members by a simple majority;
- 16.3.2 receive and consider a report of the proceedings of the ABC for the previous Financial Year;
- 16.3.3 transact any other business which is brought under consideration by the annual report issued with the notice convening the meeting;
- 16.3.4 appoint Independent financial auditors of the ABC who are to attend the Annual General Meeting so that they can respond to questions by Members in respect of the audit process and the content of the audit reports;



- 16.3.5 transact any other business which the Full Members present in person or by proxy at an Annual General Meeting may transact at the meeting; and
- 16.3.6 transact business of which notice has been given in accordance with Rule 18.1.2.

Proposed Amendment to Rule 16.3.3 and Addition of Rule 16.3.7:

Part 3 – Committees, Officers and Meetings

16.3 Business of Annual General Meeting

The business of an Annual General Meeting is to:

- 16.3.3 transact any other business which is brought under consideration by the notice convening the meeting;
- 16.3.7 transact any other business which arises from the annual report issued 21 days before the AGM.



Part 4 - Page 20 - Trustees, Income and Property

This is a more comprehensive section on the Trustees and delivers more protection for them as the guardians of the ABC.

No Change



Part 5 - Page 22 - Audits and Auditors

This section was previously titled Audits, Auditors and Audit Reports and devoted to defining the ABC audit including what kind of audits can be conducted, who can conduct them, what kind of qualifications they must have, the Audit Inspector Role and most importantly – when audits will be conducted through the Audit Reports.

The following sections have been moved:

The sections covering Audit Periods and ABC Audit Reports have been moved to Schedule 5 and the substantial duplication between the ABC Audit Report section and the Publisher's Statement section have been deleted to provide one coherent schedule around reporting, which is the new Schedule 5.

Various Rule references have therefore been changed and this part condensed together with a change to the new terminology.



Part 6 – Page 26 – ABC Mandatory Reports, Audit Periods and Circulation Summaries

This section was previously named 'Publisher's Statement and was a mirror of Part 5 – only relating to Publisher's Statements – the how, when, who and any controls about publisher's statements.

Changes

This section has been renamed – ABC Mandatory Reports, Audit Periods and Circulation Summaries and considerably shortened as much as the reporting requirements are now delineated in Schedule 5.

This section also provides a shortened set of Rules around ABC Publisher Reports, (which replace Publisher's Statements) and the new term ABC Mandatory Report which captures both ABC Audit Reports and ABC Publisher Reports.

At the same time the elements of Part 7 relating to the provision of Circulation Summaries have been included here.



EXPLANATORY STATEMENTPart 7 – Circulation Statements & Summaries

This section previously grouped together everything about the reporting of the audited data, - controls, changes, members' obligations and rights.

Changes

This section has been deleted from the rule book, with the rules relating to the provision of Circulation Summaries now moved into Part 6 and the rules relating to the reporting of data moved into the new Schedule 5 Reporting.



EXPLANATORY STATEMENTPart 8 – Page 33 - ABVS

Formally recognising the ABVS division and its structure and reporting.

No Change



Part 9 - Page 34 - Miscellaneous

This Part contains various rules relating to Publicity – fleshing out how and what can be associated with the ABC logo, it also introduces the new Query and Challenge area which are fleshed out in Schedule 4, the new Sanctions area and other sundry general business issues – amendments to the Rules, closing the ABC, Executive Committee Determinations and any transitional provisions relating to the implementation of the rules.

Changes

The changes to Part 9 are in two parts – some changes to Publicity and the addition of a new transitional provision in Rule 44.0.

Publicity changes involve a reworked Clause 34.5 on Statements of Comparison, which are more specific in terms of what comparisons can be made and allow prior period comparisons. Reference has been made to Publicity around Voluntary Reports, which will be determined by the ABC Executive Committee in line with some guiding principles.

In addition, an extra transitional provision, Rule 44.5 allows publishers a grace period of up to 12 months to renew subscriptions and other contracts of sale.



Schedule 1 – Page 42 – Applying for Membership

Relates to matters concerning applications for membership and relate specifically to Part 2

No Change



Schedule 2 – Page 43 – Committees and Meetings

This is the companion for Part 3 and identifies the actions connected with the committees – how many members, how many meetings, how the election processes work etc.

No Change



Schedule 3 –Page 48 – Definitions and Calculations

This Schedule was previously titled 'Circulation Statements' and accompanies Parts 5, 6 & 7. It defines the calculation and reporting of Average Net Paid Sales.

Changes

Schedule 3 contains new and amended definitions, updates to the reporting of categories to include changes and additional categories as well as separating rules which include the definitions and calculation of Average Net Paid Sales from the rules governing the reporting of Average Net Paid Sales.

In addition, as a part of the preparations for the inclusion of the new reporting frameworks and the addition of digital rules, the ABC has identified some structural changes that are required to manage the calculations and reporting of both print and digital versions which will follow the first ballot for Print.

These changes include the creation of a new Schedule 5 – Reporting which will include Rules S3-2.3 to S3-6.0 inclusive.

Schedule 3 will be renamed Definitions and includes all Rule S3-1.0 Definitions and the Rule S3-2.0 to S32.2 Calculation of Average Net Paid Sales.

All calculations will move to Schedule 4 when digital calculations are added in the next round or rule changes.

Changes to Definitions

- Accommodation and Airline Sales replaced with two new definitions –
 Accommodation and Hotel Sale and Airline Sale
- Accommodation and Hotel Sale new definition
- Adjustments new definition
- Airline Sale new definition
- Arrangement new definition
- Bundled Sale amended to include Multiple Publication Sales
- Contra Copies amended
- Education Sale replaced with two new definitions School Sale and Tertiary Education Subscription Sale



- Event Sale amended
- Gross Paid Sales amended
- Multiple Publication Sale deleted/ merged into Bundled Sale
- Regular Channel Sale new definition
- Return Copies amended
- Return Event Sale Copies new definition
- School Sale new definition
- Tertiary Education Subscription Sale new definition
- Third Party new definition

S3-2.0 – Amended to include changes to Gross Paid Sales and calculation of Average Net Paid Sales.

Rules relating to the reporting of Average Net Paid Sales have been moved into the new Schedule 5 which has been created. These include the former rules: S3-2.3, S3-2.4,S3-2.5, S3-2.6, S3-3.0, S3-4.0, S3-5.0 and S3-6.0.



Schedule 4 -

Left intentionally blank to allow for the insertion of digital rules in subsequent changes.



Schedule 5 - Page 54 - Reporting

Schedule 5 is a new Schedule combining elements of Schedule 3 and new drafting to incorporate the changes to the reporting of Average Net Paid Sales and the new Voluntary Reporting options.



Schedule 6 – Page 60 - Reporting Statements – Queries and Challenges

Queries and Challenges – this accompanies Part 9 and is the 'how to' for the new query and challenge process.

Changes

Renumbering of old Schedule 4 – Circulation Statements – Queries and Challenges to Schedule 6 Reporting Statements – Queries And Challenges.

Being moved in the rule book to allow for the insertion of digital rules in subsequent changes.



Schedule 7 – Page 64 – Amendments to Rules

This Schedule accompanies Part 9 as well – and is the 'how to' for amendments to the Rules.

Changes

Renumbering of old Schedule 5 Amendment to Rules to become Schedule 7 Amendment to Rules.

Being moved in the rule book to allow for the insertion of digital rules in subsequent changes.

Level 8, 15 Blue Street, North Sydney NSW2060 Tel: +61 2 9954 9800

Fax: +61 2 9956 8220

Eml: info@auditbureau.org.au www.auditbureau.org.au ABN: 78 449 399 715